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Henry Ford (American industrialist and pioneer, 1863-1947)

“If everyone is moving 
forward together,
then success takes care 
of itself.”
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EAB provides a financial bridge between Europe and the MENA region. 
We use our network, knowledge and industry expertise to support our clients
wherever they live, work or want to do business.

Financial bridges, solid foundations
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In last year’s report I talked about client

loyalty and trust, and for most banks the 

past 12 months have tested that loyalty 

and trust to the limits. We are now in the 

grip of a global economic recession that 

has led to high unemployment, and a

substantial credit crisis leading to drastic

losses and bankruptcy of some large and 

well established investment banks, as well 

as commercial banks, in many nations 

around the world. 

A number of economists feel that this crisis
will possibly go down in history as the most
serious since the Great Depression of the 1930s.
Many banks are now scaling back, as they seek
to stabilise their balance sheets. Liquidity has
become of paramount importance as asset
values have deteriorated.

Whilst the overall financial performance 
of Europe Arab Bank (EAB) during 2008 was 
slightly affected by the market turmoil, the
underlying business model is viable and
performing. Furthermore, we have met our
target of achieving a healthy balance between
business units and net revenue, which is up 
33%. Additionally, much has been done to
reduce costs within the business resulting 
in the underlying cost base reducing by 3% 
year-on-year.

EAB’s vision to be the pre-eminent bank for
clients in Europe, the Middle East and North
Africa remains on course, and despite what has
been a very challenging year, our financials and
underlying business fundamentals are as strong
as ever, as is our future potential.

Our strategy to achieve our vision has not changed,
but I believe that in today’s very different global
business operating environment, the tactics that
we need to employ to implement and deliver
that strategy have to be more prudent.

Good business practice is and has always been 
a global standard for EAB and for the Arab Bank
Group, irrespective of the geography. All of our
business dealings are based on sound corporate
governance and are in line with our overall
strategy. Going forward we must ensure that we
carefully balance opportunities and risk to ensure
that, as a financial service provider, we add value.

During the last 12 months, the management
team at EAB led by Chief Executive Officer
Antoine Sreih, has developed and implemented 
a programme that has strengthened processes
and governance arrangements to a very high
standard. They have also consolidated their
business model and exited those business lines
that were not consistent with EAB’s ‘bridge to
MENA’ strategy.

Chairman’s Message

EAB’s vision to be the pre-eminent bank
for clients in Europe, the Middle East and
North Africa remains on course.
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“Going forward we must ensure that
we carefully balance opportunities and
risk to ensure that, as a financial
service provider, we add value.

Over the next 12 months EAB will face a number
of uncertainties which will be accentuated by
market conditions. There will be ongoing pressure
on the banking sector regarding liquidity,
resulting in higher cost of funds and, owing to
the fragility of the financial markets, increased
credit spreads for inter-bank borrowing. There is
also likely to be an increase in corporate defaults
due to the recession in the western economies
and the relatively low price of oil could well
challenge the growth of the MENA region.

However our strategic priorities are very clear
and although there are still challenging times
ahead, I am convinced that if we are all clear on
these priorities, we will remain on course to
deliver our vision. Our commitment to our
clients, our staff and the communities within
which we operate has never been higher and 
I would like to thank everyone for their ongoing
support and confidence.

EAB remains a very important strategic entity 
for the Arab Bank Group and I believe that
despite current market conditions as we move
forward together we will achieve all of our
strategic priorities.

Abdel Hamid Shoman

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Abdel Hamid Shoman

Chairman of the Board of Directors

EAB_R&A08_review_section:Layout 1  30/03/2009  11:37  Page 6



appointed a new Head of Treasury and
strengthened the Treasury Team. We also
undertook a complete redesign of our Private
Banking strategic model. This model is now
being implemented and will put us firmly on
course to deliver that objective.

We continued to increase successfully our
deposits in order to achieve a more balanced
approach to our assets and liabilities. Whilst we
have pursued new business growth, this has not
been done in an aggressive manner but safely
and conservatively, and with a strong focus on
MENA related opportunities.

We have undertaken a great deal of work to
improve the overall credit quality of our business
and at the same time, implemented a number 
of initiatives to control and reduce our costs. 
Of course our intention was to make a profit,
without sacrificing quality, so it is disappointing
that our financial performance was affected by
the unprecedented turmoil in the financial
markets.

I mentioned earlier the need to ensure that the
appropriate behaviours and governance are
demonstrated throughout the business and a
great deal of work has been done to strengthen
our expertise in both of these areas.

There is no doubt that these are very

challenging times. In 2008 the Executive

Management Team and I focused on our

strategic priorities: consolidating our

business where necessary, exiting markets

where there was no longer a natural fit, and

implementing a number of initiatives to

ensure that we were in the best possible

shape to drive our business forward.

Our vision to be the financial bridge for clients
undertaking business between Europe, the
Middle East and North Africa (MENA) remained
our goal, but in today’s very different global
business environment, the tactics that we
needed to implement and deliver that vision
were fundamentally repositioned.

During 2008 our focus was to deliver improved
performance while safeguarding liquidity;
develop the behaviours we all needed 
to demonstrate throughout the business to 
deliver that performance and build upon the 
work that commenced during the previous year
to continue to strengthen our governance.

In order to achieve a greater balance between
our three strategic business units, and
implement our plans for growth in both our
Treasury and Private Banking units, we 

Chief Executive’s Message

Our growth strategy is built on three pillars:
enhancing the core; extending the business 
and expanding the market in which our 
business operates.
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“Our underlying business is in good shape, we have 
a very strong and experienced Executive Management
Team, and we will face the challenges ahead by
going forward together.

Our people continue to be the greatest asset
that we have within EAB and it is essential that
we recognise that fact and continue to develop
and train them to the highest possible standards.

During 2008 a comprehensive training
programme was implemented throughout EAB
to create a behavioural competency framework
for all of our staff. This training has been
inculcated into our appraisal process and also 
our objectives setting.

The work that we carried out on behavioural
competencies has fostered a strong sense of
responsibility and accountability in all of our staff.
They demonstrate the highest levels of respect
for each other; are proud to be part of the Arab
Bank Group; follow our governance procedures
to the letter together with the requirements and
standards laid down by our regulator the Financial
Services Authority (FSA); and are totally focused
on delivering our strategic priorities and vision.

Despite these turbulent times, I have every
confidence that we will go from strength to
strength. Our underlying business is in good
shape, we have a very strong and experienced
Executive Management Team, and we will 
face the challenges ahead by going forward
together.

Antoine Sreih

Chief Executive Officer

Antoine Sreih

Chief Executive Officer
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Corporate and Social
Responsibility 

of philanthropic donations, we are an active
participant in our communities and are very
aware of the obligations we have as a
responsible employer and also our need to
manage the wider social and environmental
impact of what we do.

In 2008 EAB partnered with the London Borough
of Tower Hamlets in the Primary School Reading
Programme. Through this scheme, volunteers
from the business community visit a school for
half an hour every week to read with a pupil.
The scheme, which runs over a 10 week period,
relies on the generosity of people who are
willing to provide encouragement and support 
to children who really need it and is a great way
of giving something back to the community. 
We have been very encouraged by the number
of volunteers within EAB - that have been willing
to give up their time to participate in this
initiative.

The schools supply the reading material and 
the pupils are allowed to select a text that is
appropriate for their reading level and there are 
a great many benefits to participating in this
scheme. From the pupils’ perspective, it not only
gives them one-to-one reading support, but it
also helps them to develop their communication
skills. The volunteers are also positive role
models for these pupils and are able to give
them an insight into the world of work outside 
of the class room environment.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) has

been embraced by companies all around the

World and the Arab Bank Group has been at

the forefront of responsible corporate

citizenship both within the MENA region and

the continents in which it operates.

The Abdel Hameed Shoman Foundation was
established in March 1978 with the objective of
promoting social development in the Arab World
in the fields of science and the humanities. The
Foundation supports a wide range of activities
including the direct support of scientific
institutions, the publication and dissemination 
of scientific research, and the production and
financing of educational, cultural and scientific
programs to be used at universities and colleges. 

The Foundation organises seminars, workshops
and discussion groups emphasising the need 
to bring scientific knowledge to a broader
audience to enable the discussion of major
topics of social and cultural importance openly
and productively. The Foundation also supports
the establishment of public libraries, and
maintains an award program dedicated to
science teachers, encouraging them to pursue
innovative scientific research. 

As part of the Arab Bank Group, EAB recognises
the importance of good citizenship within the
communities that it operates. Our involvement 
in CSR is not just confined to the making 

Investing in our community is an important
element of how we operate. Our business 
benefits from the contribution that we make 
to the development and sustainability of the
communities within which we undertake our
operations and we look forward to widening 
that contribution in 2009. 
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During 2008 our efforts have seen us recycle

13110kg of paper which saved:

218 trees
46812kw of energy
28m³ of landfill 
7824kg of CO2 emissions
404,519 litres of water  
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We have also stepped up to the challenge of
sourcing our goods and services from suppliers
that have the highest standards.
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“When I’m very stuck at reading she helps me
and gives me a clue. When I’m sad she cheers
me up.” Pupil, Redlands Primary School.

Our volunteers have discovered a project that
gives them the opportunity to do something
positive and worthwhile, but more importantly 
it makes a significant contribution to the lives 
of these young people. 

EAB is keen to encourage more involvement
with the local community, not only does it raise
motivation and morale amongst those who
participate, but it also provides the opportunity
for our people to gain teamwork experience and
improve their time management and
communication skills.

Sport is another platform for engaging with the
community and in September EAB participated 
in a football fundraiser by taking part in the 2008
‘Match for a day’. Between the hours of 12:00
noon on the 5th September and 12:00 noon on
the 6th September teams participated in a 
24 hour football marathon at Europe’s premier
indoor football facility, The David Beckham
Academy. The Ambassadors in Sport’s unique
fundraiser saw the AIS team play 24 different
teams for 50 minutes each raising £20,000 for
community football outreach in London and
abroad. One such project that benefited from 
the fundraiser was the Hope FC, London. 
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“We also made a number of donations to various
charities that touched our hearts with the work that
they are doing within the community to improve the
lives of so many people.

This project offers young people at risk
alternative activities and opportunities to break
out of their circumstances.

Other individual sporting performances by EAB
employees raising funds for a variety of charities
took place during the course of the year and 
we saw some heroic Marathon running, Peak
walking and even an individual who abseiled
down the face of a London sky scraper all in the
cause of raising funds for their chosen charity.
Through the EAB ‘£ for £’ scheme, we matched
the funds raised by these individuals up to 
a maximum amount of £250.00.

We also made a number of donations to various
charities that touched our hearts with the work
that they are doing within the community to
improve the lives of so many people.

A further very important element of our CSR
Programme is sustainability and we have made 
a considerable ongoing effort to ensure that we
set the highest standards to reduce our waste
and increase our recycling. We have also
stepped up to the challenge of sourcing our
goods and services from suppliers that have 
the highest standards.
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The art of good sponsorship
In October 2008 EAB sponsored an exclusive

exhibition of contemporary Middle Eastern

Art and Photography at the London gallery 

of Waterhouse & Dodd. There were two

exhibitions, the first ‘Routes’ which brought

together 15 artists, some internationally

known and some emerging, and the second

‘Crossroads’ which was the first UK

exhibition of the photographs of Lalla Essaydi

the famous Moroccan/Saudi artist.  

As the exclusive sponsor we gained significant
brand exposure; not only was our logo on both
pre-event advertising in specialist art publications
- it also made the mainstream media including
the Financial Times. As the enthusiasm for the
exhibition grew it became clear that EAB would
get even more benefit from the sponsorship 
as the gallery provided an ideal venue to provide
Corporate Hospitality to EAB’s clients and key
business influencers. Another key benefit 
was the potential to host private viewings at 
the gallery. On one evening we held a reception 
for our Corporate and Private Banking clients 

and on another occasion we hosted a lunch 
for business associates, representatives from
other financial institutions, Arab embassies 
and associations. 

Routes and Crossroads attracted interest from
collectors in London, Europe, the USA and 
the Middle East - some of whom attended the
Exhibition and others who purchased through 
the catalogues. Waterhouse & Dodd exhibits
annually at art fairs in Abu Dhabi and Dubai 
so, as sponsors, EAB will gain further brand
exposure as the catalogues are shown in future
exhibitions and art fairs.

Antoine Sreih said during his welcome address,
“As part of the Arab Bank Group our roots are
very firmly established in the Middle East;
Europe Arab Bank acts as the financial bridge 
for clients who wish to do business between
Europe and MENA, and in much the same 
way, the art and photography that are on view
today provides a cultural bridge between those
two regions”.

From left to right:

WIJDAN

(1939, Jordanian)
Love Series II, 2008

Collage & mixed media 
on paper

PARVIZ TANAVOLI

(1937, Iranian)
Standing Heech, 1966-2007

Bronze featured with two
different patinas

MONIR SHAHROUDY

FARMANFARMAIAN

(1924, Iranian)
Variations on a Hexagon, 2005 

Mirror strips and reverse-glass
painting, plaster on wood

NJA MAHDAOUI

(1937, Tunisian)
Calligramm on Parchment,

2007

Indian ink & acrylic on
parchment

Opposite:

AFSOON

(1961, Iranian)
One night in Cairo, 2007 

Linocut on print 

All images reproduced are copyright of the artist, courtesy of Waterhouse & Dodd

The world of finance and art may at first
glance seem poles apart but EAB and
Waterhouse & Dodd do in fact share 
a common strategic vision to ‘provide 
a bridge between Europe and MENA’ 
and vice versa.

EAB_R&A08_review_section:Layout 1  30/03/2009  11:38  Page 13



CROSSROADS

The first UK exhibition of photographs 
by the celebrated Moroccan artist

LALLA ESSAYDI

ROUTES

A major exhibition of work 
by 15 contemporary

Middle Eastern & Arab artists
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Solid foundations

Financial bridges

As part of the Arab Bank Group, our unparalleled
footprint in Europe and MENA enables clients 
to benefit from a strong ‘on the ground’ presence. 

Our industry expertise and regional knowledge of the
economic, corporate, social and political environment
adds real value to business relationships with clients
across a wide range of sectors.

Arab Bank’s 2008 operational and net
profits hit an historical record since the
bank was established 78 years ago.
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Services appropriate to our

high net worth customers

Our Private Banking service
relates to the management 
of their wealth, with a view 
to ensuring a high degree 
of wealth creation and
wealth preservation through
the management of risk.

Innovative, ethical, bespoke

financial solutions

With our Islamic Finance
offering, we’ve expanded 
our capabilities so that 
we are strongly positioned 
to help businesses and
individuals benefit from
Shariah-compliant products. 

Professionals who really

understand your business

Our industry-focused teams
collaborate with EAB product
specialists in treasury,
commodities, trade, and
project finance to deliver
bespoke solutions.

A wide range of bespoke

financial products 

Our objective is to enable 
our customers to manage 
risk with a range of products 
in the money markets, 
capital markets, foreign
exchange and derivative
markets.

Islamic 
Finance

Corporate 
& Institutional
Banking

Private 
Banking

Treasury 

1.06 billion USD
Profit before taxes after provisions 

840 million USD
Net profits 

31.4 billion USD
27% increase in customers’ deposits

45.6 billion USD
19% increase in total assets 

7.5 billion USD
Shareholders equity growth of 9.5%

11.2%
Return on Equity Ratio

Arab Bank Group 2008 financial highlights



The strength of our parent, 
Arab Bank plc, helps to provide 
EAB with a stable platform to 
effectively manage risks.
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Chairman

Mr. Antoine Sreih

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. David Somers

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ittira Davis

Executive Director
Mr. Michel Accad

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Samer Tamimi

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Janet Bicheno

Company Secretary
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Directors, officers and
professional advisers

Directors

Mr. Abdel Hamid Shoman

Chairman

Mr. Antoine Sreih

Chief Executive Officer 

Mr. Ittira Davis

Executive Director

Mr. Michel Accad

Non-Executive Director

Mr. David Somers

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Samer Tamimi

Non-Executive Director

Company Secretary

Ms. Janet Bicheno

Registered Office

13-15 Moorgate, 
London EC2R 6AD

Auditors

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London 

EAB has developed a strong
reputation as a relationship bank
which clients can trust, especially 
in turbulent times.
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In 2008, EAB launched its Islamic Finance
offering, EAB Islamic. A natural fit with our
strategy, EAB Islamic offers a range of Shariah-
compliant products, including Murabaha
investment accounts, Islamic trade finance and
lending facilities. EAB Islamic has a dedicated
Shariah Supervisory Committee and has
implemented iMal Path as a segregated
accounting platform.

The Treasury department handles EAB’s activity
in the markets with a focus on prudent liquidity
management and market risk mitigation. The
Treasury Sales team develops leading risk
management and structured product solutions,
enabling the corporate and private bankers to
offer a full service to our clients.

EAB’s Private Banking team provides a high 
level of personal service to clients with a MENA
affiliation, providing offshore funds and offering 
a range of wealth management services to 
our onshore clients through the European 
branch network.

External and regulatory environment

2008 saw prolonged and unexpectedly severe
economic turmoil as the credit crunch spread
from the financial markets to the real economy.
The banking and financial services landscape
underwent dramatic change with the collapse of
several high profile institutions and the emergency
government sponsored rescue of others.

The Directors present their annual report on

the affairs of Europe Arab Bank plc (“EAB” 

or the “Company”), inclusive of subsidiaries

(“the Group”), together with the financial

statements and auditors’ report, for the year

ended 31 December 2008.

Principal Activities

EAB is committed to building financial bridges 
for trade and investment between Europe and
the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region.
Offering corporate and institutional banking,
Islamic Finance, risk management solutions and
private banking services through eight offices 
in six European countries, EAB has developed 
a strong reputation as a relationship bank which
clients can trust, especially in turbulent times.

The Corporate & Institutional Banking team is
formed of highly skilled, industry-aligned
specialists who develop deep, mutually profitable
relationships with our clients. Supported by
expert product teams, the Corporate &
Institutional Bank offers trade finance, project
finance, standard and structured lending, and 
an innovative array of deposit solutions. The
Financial Institutions team offers correspondent
banking facilities through a wide-ranging network
in Europe and the Middle East; by leveraging 
the strengths of the Arab Bank Group, EAB 
holds a significant competitive advantage in this
field and presents a unique proposition to our
relationship banks.

Directors’ report

EAB’s Private Banking team provides 
a high level of personal service to clients
with a MENA affiliation.

EAB_R&A08_review_section:Layout 1  30/03/2009  11:38  Page 19



16  |  17 Europe Arab Bank plc Annual Report 2008

Central banks have taken a new role at the
centre of the stage, providing substantial
injections of liquidity in an attempt to shore up
ailing markets and minimise the impact on the
real economy.

Given the pace and severity of recent events, 
it is understandable that regulatory and
supervisory bodies have sought to increase their
oversight of financial institutions. Recent
consultation papers from the UK’s Financial
Services Authority (FSA) on liquidity and stress
testing have emphasised the importance of a
solid business model, prudent management and
adequate information to make informed
decisions.

Strategy and objectives

Despite the ongoing market turmoil, EAB’s
strategy remains consistent. EAB has continued
its strategic development agenda which is built
on three pillars:

Enhance the core

Our performance agenda seeks to drive optimal
outcomes from our core business by focusing 
on the effective deployment of our resources:

• Liquidity;

• Capital;

• Risk appetite;

• People; and

• Brand.

Extend the business

Where appropriate, and in line with our risk
appetite, EAB will take opportunities to develop
selected relationships in our target markets. We
will leverage Arab Bank Group capabilities and
expertise in a spirit of partnership.

Expand the market

Our strategic agenda focuses on opportunities
that are closely aligned with our business model
and agenda, such as the development of our
Islamic Finance offering which is fundamental to
our offering and brand.

By focusing on these three pillars, EAB will
continue its successful development as a
strategic entity within the Arab Bank Group.

Future outlook

As we enter 2009, EAB faces a number of risks
and uncertainties, which are accentuated by the
ongoing turmoil in the financial markets and
recession in the World’s major economies.
In the view of the Directors, the key risks are:

• Ongoing pressure on liquidity, resulting in high
cost of funds;

• Uncertainty in financial markets, resulting in
increased credit spreads for inter-bank
borrowing;

• Recession in western economies, resulting in
an increase in corporate defaults; and

• Low oil price (by recent levels), challenging
the growth of the MENA region.

424m
Net Equity of €424 million
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Strategic Business Unit Commentary -
Corporate & Institutional Banking
Having successfully established its market
presence during 2007, the focus for Corporate 
& Institutional Banking (CIB) in 2008 was to
ensure the robustness of the business, with
particular attention on growth in corporate 
client deposits.

This initiative saw considerable success, 
with these deposits growing €550M (93%) 
to €1.14B, demonstrating the strength of the
Group’s brand against the backdrop of
unprecedented market turmoil.

2008 also saw the rollout of target market criteria
across the eight European offices, emphasising
EAB’s commitment to the “bridge to MENA”
strategy and its focus on developing mutually
beneficial relationships with strategic clients.

CIB continues to work in close partnership 
with other members of the Arab Bank Group to
maximise group synergies.

These and other risks including credit, market
and liquidity are disclosed in notes 30 to 34 to
the financial statements, along with information
on the committees with responsibility and the
policies of the Group to manage them. The
Directors are confident that the current risk
management structure is sufficient for
identification, monitoring and management of
significant financial risks to the Group.

As with any change, there are also opportunities
available to EAB. In the view of the Directors,
the primary opportunities are:

• The strength of our parent, Arab Bank plc,
helps to provide EAB with a stable platform to
effectively manage risks;

• A general market return to more prudent
models of banking, led by regulatory and
government pressure, which would suit EAB’s
heritage and management ethos; and

• Credit spreads which are more reflective of
underlying risk, resulting in the return of the
risk-reward equation and thus benefiting
EAB’s prudent business model.

Directors’ report continued

89%
Customer loan: customer deposit ratio of 89%
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Strategic Business Unit Commentary - 

Private Banking

During 2008, EAB Private Banking continued the
development of its proposition as a niche private
bank in Europe, targeting High Net Worth clients
of Middle Eastern origin residing in Europe and
the MENA region.

We launched an open architecture wealth
management platform, offering a series of new
MENA and Global products and services which
can be tailored to each client’s individual needs.
Our client experience was enhanced with the
refurbishment of our branches.

Despite fierce competition for liquidity, the
Private Banking team has succeeded in 
growing its deposit base by 3.5% highlighting
continued client confidence in EAB and its 
parent company, Arab Bank.

The low interest rate environment which prevailed
across the developed economies reduced net
margins, although EAB is not alone in facing this
challenge. On the other hand, the market turmoil
has led to existing and prospective clients
seeking a more traditional suite of banking
products and a “flight to quality”. We will
continue to strengthen our core product offering
and develop further innovative solutions to meet
our clients’ changing needs.

Strategic Business Unit Commentary -

Treasury

2008 was dominated by trading conditions not
seen since the Great Depression. The risk-averse
approach taken by EAB’s Treasury team during
the year allowed us to support our Corporate 
& Institutional and Private Banking operations.
Treasury continues to manage EAB’s liquidity 
and hedges our interest-rate and foreign
exchange risks. This enables us to maintain 
a prudent risk profile in line with regulatory
requirements and Arab Bank Group’s heritage.
During 2008 the focus of Treasury efforts 
was shifted very strongly toward liquidity
management and diversification of funding
sources and these efforts continue. This 
change in emphasis forms part of EAB’s
contribution to the Arab Bank Group’s overall
response to the ongoing extreme market
conditions.

2008 saw the appointment of a new Head 
of Treasury for EAB. Professor Moorad Choudhry
joined the bank in July and has brought with him
a valuable store of expertise, experience and an
insight into new ideas. One of the first initiatives
embarked upon by Treasury in the second half 
of the year was the creation of a Treasury Sales
desk, which aims to provide derivative hedging
and cross-selling opportunities to the Private
Banking and CIB business units.

The focus for Corporate & Institutional Banking 
(CIB) in 2008 was to ensure the robustness of the
business, with particular attention on growth in
corporate client deposits.
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EAB’s net equity of €424M (called up share
capital of €500M less reserves of €76M) and
€181M of subordinated debt ensured existing
and planned growth are well within regulatory
limits. 

2008 brought a sustained focus on cost control
which delivered a cost saving of 3% against
2007 and positions EAB well for further savings
in 2009. 

Key performance indicators
The Group’s management uses Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs) to identify and monitor trends 
in the performance of the strategies employed.
These KPIs are refreshed and circulated on 
a regular basis and form an integral part of the
decision-making process.

Explanation of KPIs
1. Net Interest Income - reflects EAB’s ability 

to originate profitable customer lending
relationships.

2. Profit (loss) - measures the bottom line of EAB.
3. Capital Adequacy Ratio - EAB monitors its

capital adequacy ratio to ensure prudent
capital management and compliance with
regulatory requirements.

4. Loan / Deposit Ratio - represents the Groups’
ability to fund its lending from deposits.

5. Maturity Mismatch Ratio - calculated for each
time band as net cash flow / total deposits.

Business review
The overall financial performance for EAB in
2008 was a loss of €26.3M. Whilst the bottom
line is disappointing, this includes €40M of
provisions, €9.7M of mark-to-market losses and
restructuring costs of €4M. During the year the
Group also reclassified certain securities out 
of “Held for trading” (fair value through profit 
or loss) to “Held to maturity”, effective 1 July
2008 (note 16 of the financial statements). 
The Group’s management has adopted a
conservative stance which it believes to be
prudent in light of the unprecedented turmoil
experienced in the financial markets.

Net revenue was €79M, up 33% from 2007 and
met our target of achieving a healthy balance
between business units.

EAB has again benefited from the prudent risk
management ethos inherited from Arab Bank 
plc, maintaining healthy levels of liquidity
throughout 2008 despite challenging market
conditions. EAB has also improved its customer
loan - customer deposit ratio to 89%.

Directors’ report continued

64.87m
Net interest income of €64.87 million
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EAB has again benefited from the prudent
risk management ethos inherited from 
Arab Bank plc, maintaining healthy levels 
of liquidity throughout 2008 despite
challenging market conditions.

KPI 2008 2007 Commentary

1. Net Interest Income €64.876M €42.750M Net Interest Income continued  
to grow significantly in 2008.

2. Profit / (Loss) (€26.255M) (€8.965M) The overall financial performance 
for EAB in 2008 was a loss of 
€26.3M largely due to €40M 
of impairment losses.

3. Capital Adequacy 18.9% (Basle II) 19.48% (Basle II) This ratio is well in excess of the
Ratio FSA requirement.
(Ratios at 31 Dec) EAB also maintains a 10% 

buffer (of eligible capital) to
protect its capital during
market turmoil.

4. Loan / Deposit ratio 89% 94% Emphasis placed on growing 
both sides of the balance sheet
to fund customer lending from 
customer deposits.

5. Liquidity Mismatch Actual Actual Successful efforts to increase 
Ratio 8 days 18.10% 8 days 11.18% client deposits ensured the 
(Ratio at 31 Dec) 1 month 5.45% 1 month 2.59% maturity mismatch ratios

remain well in excess of FSA
requirements.
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Liquidity

Liquidity has been set as the top strategic
priority for the Group to manage. The Treasury
team is responsible for managing the intra-day
and end of day liquidity. Liquidity mismatch risk
is measured through daily reporting and is
supplemented by the loan to deposit ratio
calculation on a weekly basis.

The FSA and Internal Limits are applied to the
daily liquidity mismatch analysis, with the internal
limits being more conservative. A portfolio of
marketable securities rated A- and above is held
as a liquidity buffer for disposal if short term
funds are required.

The key ratios used to measure liquidity have
been disclosed under the Key Performance
Indicators which reflect EAB’s conservative
approach towards management of liquidity and
place EAB well to manage the risk in 2009.

Capital Structure

Europe Arab Bank has a capital base of €605m,
comprising net equity of €424m and perpetual
subordinated debt of €181m.

The subordinated debt was listed on the Channel
Islands Stock Exchange (CISX) on 3 April 2008. 
The shareholders’ equity of EAB was increased
by €50m, with a corresponding decrease in the
subordinated debt.

Going Concern Basis

The Group’s business activities, together with
the factors likely to affect its future
development, performance and position are set
out above. The financial position of the Group, its
cash flows and its liquidity position are described
in the Financial Review and Key Performance
Indicators. In addition, notes 30 to 34 to the
financial statements include the Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for managing
its capital; its financial risk management
objectives; details of its financial instruments and
hedging activities; and its exposure to credit,
market, liquidity and other risks.

The Group has a comfortable capital buffer
supplied by the Arab Bank Group, which also
provides continuous operational support, and 
a diversified portfolio across geographies and
industries. As a consequence, the Directors
believe the Group is well placed to manage its
business risk successfully despite the current
uncertain economic outlook.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Company and
the Group have adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the annual
report and financial statements.

Directors’ report continued

33%
Net revenue is up 33% to €79 million
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The subordinated debt is shown in the financial
statements as a liability; however it counts as
upper-tier two capital for regulatory capital
purposes.

Dividend

The Directors recommend that no dividend be
paid for 2008 (2007: €nil).

Directors

The Directors, who served during the year and 
to date, were as follows:
Mr Abdel Hamid Shoman - Chairman
Mr Michel Accad - Non-Executive Director
Mr Antoine Sreih - Chief Executive Officer
(appointed CEO 17 July 2008)
Mr David Somers - Non-Executive Director
Mr Samer Tamimi - Non-Executive Director
(appointed 20 May 2008)
Mr Ittira Davis - Executive Director 
(appointed 24 November 2008)
Mr Phillip Monks (resigned 13 April 2008)
Dr Farouk El-Kharouf (resigned 23 April 2008)
Mr Ian Cormack (resigned 5 February 2009)

Nomination & Remuneration Committee 

and Remuneration Policy

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee’s
primary responsibilities are:

• to consider and recommend candidates for
appointment to the Board of Directors and
Board Committees;

• to appoint the Executive Management
Committee;

• to regularly review succession planning;

• to set the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the Executive Management
Committee; and

• to ensure an appropriate remuneration 
policy is in place.

The membership of the Committee comprises
Non-Executive Directors, one of whom is
independent. The members of the Committee
during the year were Mr Abdel Hamid Shoman
(Chairman of the Committee), Mr Michel Accad
and Mr David Somers.

The Group’s remuneration and reward schemes
recognise individual contribution to the business
and are regularly reviewed and benchmarked
against other leading companies in the sector 
to ensure that they remain competitive and
attractive. All employees are offered a full set 
of core and voluntary benefits which may
include: pension scheme, life assurance, staff
loans, private medical insurance, well person
screenings, staff discounts and personal accident
cover, all of which significantly enhance the total
remuneration package.

The EAB Group has a comfortable capital
buffer supplied by the Arab Bank Group,
which also provides continuous operational
support, and a diversified portfolio across
geographies and industries.
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view of risks that might impact the Company 
and embedding effective Enterprise-Wide Risk
Management (ERM) into its overall strategy and
operations, with the purpose of continually
strengthening the Company’s approach to Risk
Management.

The Committee met 6 times during 2008; 
4 meetings of which were held in Europe and 
2 in Amman, Jordan. The terms of reference 
and schedule of activities are reviewed annually.
Each year the Committee conducts a
performance evaluation review of its activities.
Training and development of the Committee
members are addressed as required.

The key activities of the Committee for the year
ending December 2008 included:

• Reviewed quarterly reports received from:
Risk & Compliance Committee; CRO including
Risk Monitoring Schedules covering current
top 10 risks to the Company; Internal Audit;
Compliance;

• Monitored implementation of recommendations
made following reviews of the Auditors’
Management Letter; Money Laundering Report;

• Reviewed Annual Report 2007; Financial
Statements 2007; Letter of Representation; 

• Reviewed Planning Report on 2008 
Audit Plan; 

• Reviewed Letter of Engagement and made
recommendation regarding the re-appointment
of Auditors and their remuneration. 

Audit & Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee’s primary
responsibilities are:

• to review and challenge the Company’s
financial reporting;

• to review the Company’s internal control,
audit and risk assurance processes;

• to consider the appointment of the external
auditors, their independence and review
regularly the findings of their work; and

• to review the Company’s overall approach 
to risk, its management and reporting line
frameworks.

The membership of the Committee comprises 
4 Non-Executive Directors, two of whom are
independent. Mr David Somers, who has recent
relevant financial experience, is the Chairman of
the Committee. The other Committee members
during the year were Mr Michel Accad, Mr Ian
Cormack, and Mr Samer Tamimi. At the invitation
of the Chairman of the Committee, the Chief
Executive Officer, the Head of Internal Audit, the
External Auditors, the Chief Financial Officer and
the Head of Compliance regularly attend
meetings along with the newly appointed Chief
Risk Officer (CRO).

The CRO was appointed on 1st August 2008
with the responsibility of ensuring that effective
best practice risk mitigation is in place
throughout the Company. The CRO is tasked
with forming an holistic and comprehensive 

Directors’ report continued

2008 brought a sustained focus on cost
control which delivered a cost saving 
of 3% against 2007 and positions EAB well
for further savings in 2009.
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• Received briefing on Audit Matters regarding
appointment of External Auditors. 

• Reviewed Internal Audit Plan; Internal Audit
Charter and adequacy of Internal Audit
Function; 

• Reviewed Head of Internal Audit Objectives
and Job Description; CRO Objectives and Job
Description; and

• Undertook Annual Effectiveness review;
Review of Terms of Reference.

Directors’ indemnities

The Articles of Association of EAB provide that,
subject to the Companies Act 2006, Directors
and other officers are entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all
costs, charges, expenses, losses or liabilities
arising in connection with the performance 
of their functions.

Such indemnity provisions have been in place
during the period and remain in force at the date
of this report. The Company purchases and
maintains appropriate insurance cover in respect
of any such liability.

Supplier payment policy

The Company’s policy, which is also applied 
by the Group, is to settle terms of payment with
suppliers when agreeing the terms of each
transaction, and to ensure that suppliers are
made aware of the terms of payment and abide
by these terms. Trade creditors of the Company

at 31 December 2008 were equivalent to 
45 (2007: 15) days’ worth of purchases, based
on the average daily amount invoiced by
suppliers during the year.

Charitable and political contributions

During the year the Group made charitable
donations of €10,738 (2007: €3,821) principally to
local charities serving the communities in which
the Group operates. No political donations were
made during the current year or prior period.

Disabled persons

The Group is committed to giving reasonable
consideration to providing facilities for
recruitment, employment and promotion 
of disabled persons. In the event of members 
of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made
to ensure that their employment with the 
Group continues where practical and that
appropriate arrangements are made. It is the
policy of the Group that the training, career
development and promotion of disabled persons
should, as far as possible, be identical to that 
of other employees.

The Directors are confident that the current risk
management structure is sufficient for identification,
monitoring and management of significant financial
risks to the Group.
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Auditors
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date
of approval of this report confirms that:

• So far as the Director is aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the
Company’s auditors are unaware; and

• The Director has taken all the steps that
he/she ought to have taken as a Director in
order to make himself/herself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that
the Company’s auditors are aware of that
information.

This confirmation is given and should be
interpreted in accordance with the provisions 
of s234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.

Deloitte LLP has expressed their willingness 
to continue in office as auditors and a resolution
to reappoint them will be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Janet Bicheno
Company Secretary
26 February 2009

13-15 Moorgate
London EC2R 6AD

Employee involvement
The Group places considerable value on the
involvement of its employees and has continued
to keep them informed on matters affecting
them as employees and on the various factors
affecting the performance of the Company and
the Group as a whole. This is achieved through
formal and informal meetings, the intranet
website and internal publications. Employee
representatives are consulted regularly on 
a wide range of matters affecting their current
and future interests. The Group also runs a staff
suggestion scheme - ‘Ideabox’ - to encourage
employee involvement in the operations 
of the Group.

Post balance sheet events
Post balance sheet events are discussed in 
note 35 to the financial statements.

Changes in accounting policies
Changes in accounting policies are discussed 
in note 1 to the financial statements.

Directors’ report continued

Despite fierce competition for liquidity,
the Private Banking team has succeeded in
growing its deposit base by 3.5%.
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We will continue to strengthen our core
product offering and develop further
innovative solutions to meet our clients’
changing needs.
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reliable, comparable and understandable
information;

• provide additional disclosures when
compliance with the specific requirements in
IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular
transactions, other events and conditions on
the entity’s financial position and financial
performance; and

• assess the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper
accounting records that disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the Company and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and
financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial information may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors are responsible for preparing

the Annual Report and the financial

statements.

The Directors are required to prepare financial
statements for the Group in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, 
and have also elected to prepare financial
statements for the Company in accordance with
IFRSs. Company law requires the Directors to
prepare the financial statements in accordance
with IFRSs, the Companies Act 1985 and Article 
4 of the International Accounting Standard 1 
(IAS) Regulation.

IAS1 requires that financial statements present
fairly for each financial year the Company’s
financial position, financial performance and cash
flows. This requires the faithful representation 
of the effects of transactions, other events and
conditions in accordance with the definitions 
and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities,
income and expenses set out in the IAS Board’s
‘Framework for the preparation and presentation
of financial statements’. In virtually all
circumstances, a fair presentation will be
achieved by compliance with all applicable 
IFRSs. However, Directors are also required to:

• properly select and apply accounting policies;

• present information, including accounting
policies, in a manner that provides relevant,

Statement of directors’
responsibilities

605m
Capital base of €605 million
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Respective responsibilities of directors 

and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the
Annual Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union are set out in
the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial
statements in accordance with relevant legal 
and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether 
the financial statements give a true and fair 
view and are properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards
the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether 
in our opinion the information given in 
the Directors’ Report is consistent with the 
financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, 
the Company has not kept proper accounting
records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our
audit, or if information specified by law regarding
Directors’ remuneration and other transactions 
is not disclosed.

We have audited the Group and parent 
Company financial statements (the “financial
statements”) of Europe Arab Bank plc for the
year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise
the Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, 
the Consolidated and Company Statement 
of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated and
Company Cash Flow Statements and the 
related notes 1 to 35. These financial statements
have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the Company’s
members, as a body, in accordance with section
235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to
the Company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditors’ report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company
and the Company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed.

Independent auditors’ report
to the members of
Europe Arab Bank plc
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We read the other information contained in the
Annual Report as described in the contents
section and consider whether it is consistent
with the audited financial statements. This other
information comprises only the Directors’ 
Report, the Chairman’s Message and the Chief
Executive Officer’s Message. We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware
of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements.
Our responsibilities do not extend to any further
information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, 
of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. It also
includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgements made by the
Directors in the preparation of the financial
statements and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the circumstances 
of the Company and the Group, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to
obtain all the information and explanations which
we considered necessary in order to provide us

with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our
opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy
of the presentation of information in the financial
statements.

Opinion

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair
view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union, of the state of the
Group’s and parent Company’s affairs as at 
31 December 2008 and of the Group’s loss 
for the year then ended;

• the financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation;
and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report
is consistent with the financial statements.

Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London, England
26 February 2009
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Notes Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Continuing operations €’000 €’000

Interest income 2 267,607 262,969
Interest expense 2 (202,731) (220,219)

Net interest income 64,876 42,750

Fee and commission income 3 22,278 15,583
Fee and commission expense 3 (990) (745)
Net trading income 4 (1,537) (4,383)
Net (losses)/gains from financial assets

and liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss 5 (6,945) 2,228

Gain on sale of available for sale securities - 79
Other operating income 7 1,805 4,135

Total operating income 79,487 59,647

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 19 (2,923) (1,875)
Other operating expenses 8 (62,778) (64,665)

Total operating expenses before impairment losses (65,701) (66,540)
Impairment losses 10 (40,034) (1,991)

Total operating expenses (105,735) (68,531)

Loss before tax (26,248) (8,884))

Tax expense 11 (7) (81)

Loss for the year (26,255) (8,965)

The notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated income statement
Year ended 31 December 2008
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Notes 2008 2007
€’000 €’000

Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 12 214,451 22,784
Loans and advances to banks 13 1,861,567 1,363,829
Loans and advances to customers 14 2,051,452 2,046,234
Fair value through profit or loss
- Held for trading 15 39,540 558,654
- Designated 15 55,071 51,069

Investment securities
- Available for sale 16 57,093 131,321
- Held to maturity 16 587,888 74,000

Derivatives 18 68,796 17,947
Property, plant and equipment 19 34,082 42,394
Other assets 20 52,445 44,366

Total assets before retirement benefit assets 5,022,385 4,352,598
Retirement benefit assets 21 3,301 4,069

Total assets 5,025,686 4,356,667

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities
Deposits by banks 22 2,432,512 2,212,959
Customer accounts 23 1,891,791 1,431,117
Derivative liabilities 18 52,217 17,752
Other liabilities 24 44,472 56,087
Current tax liabilities - 329
Subordinated liabilities 25 180,919 224,170

Total liabilities 4,601,911 3,942,414

Equity
Called up share capital 26 499,998 449,998
Available for sale reserve (7,124) (837)
Foreign exchange reserve (10,659) (2,793)
Retained earnings (58,603) (32,348)

Equity attributable to equity holders of parent 423,612 414,020
Minority interest 163 233

Total equity 423,775 414,253

Total liabilities and equity 5,025,686 4,356,667

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 26 February 2009.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

Antoine Sreih Ittira Davis
Director Director

The notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Consolidated balance sheet
31 December 2008



34 |  35  Europe Arab Bank plc Annual Report 2008

Notes 2008 2007
€’000 €’000

Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 12 214,451 22,784
Loans and advances to banks 13 1,861,567 1,363,829
Loans and advances to customers 14 2,051,452 2,046,234
Fair value through profit or loss
- Held for trading 15 39,540 558,654
- Designated 15 55,071 51,069
Investment securities
- Available for sale 16 57,093 131,321
- Held to maturity 16 587,888 74,000
Derivative assets 18 68,796 17,947
Investment in subsidiary 27,013 35,084
Property, plant and equipment 19 8,024 7,077
Other assets 51,225 44,366

Total assets before retirement benefit assets 5,022,120 4,352,365
Retirement benefit assets 21 3,301 4,069

Total assets 5,025,421 4,356,434

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities
Deposits by banks 22 2,432,512 2,212,959
Customer accounts 23 1,891,791 1,431,117
Derivative liabilities 18 52,217 17,752
Other liabilities 44,370 56,087
Current tax liabilities - 329
Subordinated liabilities 25 180,919 224,170

Total liabilities 4,601,809 3,942,414

Equity
Called up share capital 26 499,998 449,998
Available for sale reserve (7,124) (837)
Foreign exchange reserve (20) (136)
Retained earnings (69,242) (35,005)

Total equity 423,612 414,020

Total liabilities and equity 5,025,421 4,356,434

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 26 February 2009.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

Antoine Sreih Ittira Davis
Director Director

Notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of the financial statements.

Company balance sheet
31 December 2008



Ordinary Minority Available   Foreign Retained Total

Share Interests for Sale Exchange Earnings Shareholders

Capital Reserve Reserve Equity

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

As at 1 January 2007 244,774 235 (6) 2 (23,383) 221,622
Ordinary shares issued 205,224 - - - - 205,224
Loss for the year attributable to shareholders - - - - (8,965) (8,965)
Fair value losses taken to equity on available

for sale investment securities - - (910) - - (910)
Cumulative gain transferred to income

statement on sale of available for sale
investment securities - - 79 - - 79

Net assets attributable to Minority Interest - (2) - - - (2)
Exchange differences - - - (2,795) - (2,795)

As at 31 December 2007 449,998 233 (837) (2,793) (32,348) 414,253
Ordinary shares issued 50,000 - - - - 50,000
Loss for the year attributable to shareholders - - - - (26,255) (26,255)
Fair value losses taken to equity on available

for sale investment securities - - (6,287) - - (6,287)
Cumulative gain transferred to income 

statement on sale of available for sale 
investment securities - - - - - -

Net assets attributable to Minority Interest - (70) - - - (70)
Exchange differences - - - (7,866) - (7,866)

As at 31 December 2008 499,998 163 (7,124) (10,659) (58,603) 423,775

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 December 2008

Ordinary Available Foreign Retained Total

Share for Sale Exchange Earnings Shareholders

Capital Reserve Reserve Equity

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

As at 1 January 2007 244,774 (6) 2 (23,383) 221,387
Ordinary shares issued 205,224 - - - 205,224
Loss for the year attributable to shareholders - - - (11,622) (11,622)
Fair value losses taken to equity on available 

for sale investment securities - (910) - - (910)
Cumulative gain transferred to income

statement on sale of available for sale
investment securities - 79 - - 79

Exchange differences - - (138) - (138)

As at 31 December 2007 449,998 (837) (136) (35,005) 414,020
Ordinary shares issued 50,000 - - - 50,000
Loss for the year attributable to shareholders - - - (34,237) (34,237)
Fair value losses taken to equity on available 

for sale investment securities - (6,287) - - (6,287)
Cumulative gain transferred to income

statement on sale of available for sale
investment securities - - - - -

Exchange differences - - 116 - 116

As at 31 December 2008 499,998 (7,124) (20) (69,242) 423,612

Notes1 to 35 form an integral part of the financial statements.

Company statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 December 2008
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2008 2007

€’000 €’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before tax, adjusted for: (26,248) (8,884)
- Depreciation 2,923 1,875
- Movement in impairment of loans and advances 40,034 1,991
- Foreign exchange gain on subordinated liabilities (6,749) (26,399)
- Other non-trading assets (7,311) 28,693
- Other non-trading liabilities (11,615) 509

(8,966) (2,215)

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets

Funds advanced to customers (26,881) (1,366,215)
Funds advanced to banks (497,738) 1,620,714
Fair value through profit or loss and derivatives 498,728 (82,386)
Investment securities (450,907) 324,405

476,798 496,518
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities

Customer deposits 460,674 (384)
Funds received from banks 219,553 (825,029)

680,227 (825,413)

Income taxes (paid)/credited (336) 94

Net cash inflows/(outflows) from operating activities 194,127 (331,016)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (2,457) (2,780)

Net cash outflows from investing activities (2,457) (2,780)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of subordinated liabilities (50,000) -
Issue of ordinary shares 50,000 205,224

Net cash inflows from financing activities - 205,224

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 191,670 (128,572)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 22,784 151,360
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (3) (4)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 214,451 22,784

Consolidated cash flow statement
Year ended 31 December 2008
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2008 2007

€’000 €’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before tax, adjusted for: (34,237) (11,541)
- Depreciation 2,078 1,875
- Movement in impairment of loans and advances 40,034 1,991
- Foreign exchange gain on subordinated liabilities  

and net investment in foreign operations 963 (23,742)
- Other non-trading assets (6,091) 28,693
- Other non-trading liabilities (11,717) 509

(8,970) (2,215)

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets

Funds advanced to customers (26,881) (1,366,215)
Funds advanced to banks (497,738) 1,620,714
Fair value through profit or loss and derivatives 498,728 (82,386)
Investment securities (450,907) 324,405

(476,798) 496,518
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities

Customer deposits 460,674 (384)
Funds received from banks 219,553 (825,029)

680,227 (825,413)

Income taxes (paid)/credited (336) 94

Net cash inflows/(outflows) from operating activities 194,123 (331,016)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (2,457) (2,780)

Net cash outflows from investing activities (2,457) (2,780)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of subordinated liabilities (50,000) -
Issue of ordinary shares 50,000 205,224

Net cash inflows from financing activities - 205,224

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 191,666 (128,572)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 22,784 151,360
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 1 (4)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 214,451 22,784

Company cash flow statement
Year ended 31 December 2008
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements and the individual financial statements of Europe Arab Bank plc (‘the Company’; and ‘the Group’
including subsidiaries) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European
Union. IFRS comprise accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and its predecessor body as well
as interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and its predecessor body.

Europe Arab Bank plc is incorporated and registered in England and Wales.

The financial statements are presented in Euros (€), which is the functional currency of the Company and the Group. The financial statements
have been prepared under a going concern basis as set out in the Directors’ report.

Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments. 
The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Adoption of new and revised standards

In October 2008, the IASB published certain amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The amendments, under certain circumstances, permit financial assets to be reclassified out of the
category “held for trading” (fair value through profit or loss) if the Group has the intent and ability to hold the financial assets for the
foreseeable future or until maturity. The Group adopted these amendments during the year. The impact of the adoption is disclosed in note 16.

In the current year, two Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee are effective for the current
period. These are: IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions and IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction. The adoption of these Interpretations has not led to any changes in the Group’s
accounting policies.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in these
financial statements were in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases had not yet been adopted by the EU):

IFRS 1 (amended)/IAS 27 (amended): Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
IFRS 2 (amended): Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
IFRS 3 (revised 2008): Business Combinations
IFRS 8: Operating Segments
IAS 1(revised 2007): Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 23 (revised 2007): Borrowing Costs
IAS 27 (revised 2008): Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IAS 32 (amended)/IAS 1 (amended): Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
IFRIC 12: Service Concession Arrangements
IFRIC 15: Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
IFRIC 16: Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
Improvements to IFRSs (May 2008)

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the financial
statements of the Group.

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements of the Group include the financial statements of Europe Arab Bank plc, and the following wholly owned and
controlled subsidiaries: 

Proportion Method used

Place of Proportion of of voting to account

Name Owned by incorporation ownership power held for investment

13-15 Moorgate No. 1 Limited Europe Arab Bank plc England & Wales 100% 100% Acquisition
13-15 Moorgate No. 2 Limited Europe Arab Bank plc England & Wales 100% 100% Acquisition

Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of
the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests
of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
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Significant accounting policies

(a) Interest income and expense

Interest income on financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables, held to maturity or available for sale, and interest expense on
financial liabilities other than those at fair value through profit or loss, is recognised in ‘Interest income’ and sections of the income statement
using the effective interest rates of the financial assets or financial liabilities to which they relate.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the expected future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument, or when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the instrument. Calculation of the effective interest
rate takes into account fees receivable that are an integral part of the instrument’s yield, premiums or discounts on acquisition, early
redemption fees and transaction costs. 

(b) Non-interest income: Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income is accounted for depending on the services to which the income relates as follows:

• Income earned on the execution of a significant item is recognised in ‘Fee income’ when the act is completed;

• Income earned in respect of services is recognised in ‘Fee income’ as the services are provided; and

• Income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument is recognised as an adjustment to the effective
interest rate and recorded in ‘Interest income’ (Note 1(a) above). 

(c) Net trading income

Net trading income comprises all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading 
and related dividends.

(d) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

• Loans and receivables; 

• Held to maturity investments; 

• Available for sale financial assets; and  

• Other financial assets. 

Management determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise of financial assets that are held for trading, and those designated by management
as being at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. 

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired principally for the purposes of generating a profit from short-term
fluctuations in price or dealers margin, or form part of a portfolio of similar assets for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking, or are derivatives (not designated into a qualifying hedge relationship).

Financial assets may be designated at fair value through profit or loss only if such a designation (a) eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency; (b) applies to a group of financial assets, financial liabilities, or both that the Company manages
and evaluates on a fair value basis; or (c) relates to an instrument that contains an embedded derivative which is not evidently closely related
to the host contract.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, with transaction costs recognised in the income
statement. Subsequently, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised as they arise. 

The method of determining fair value is described in Note 1(h) of these financial statements.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and
which are not classified upon initial recognition as available for sale or at fair value through profit and loss. 

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, (see Note 1(a) above), less any impairment losses. 

Held to maturity financial assets

Held to maturity assets are non-derivative financial assets including debt securities with fixed or determinable payments that the management
has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 

Held to maturity assets are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, (see Note 1(a) above), less any impairment losses. 
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Available for sale financial assets

Available for sale assets are non-derivative financial assets including debt securities that are designated as available for sale on initial
recognition or are not classified into any of the other categories described above. 

Available for sale assets are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs. They are subsequently held at
fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included as a separate component of shareholders’ equity, until sale or
impairment, when the cumulative gain or loss is transferred to the income statement. Interest determined using the effective interest method
(Note 1(a) above), impairment losses, translation differences on monetary assets, and dividends received where the right to receive payment
is established are recognised in the income statement. 

The method of determining fair value is described in Note 1(h) of these financial statements.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets 

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, which is the date the Group commits to purchase
assets. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulators or convention in marketplace. 

(e) Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or portfolio of financial assets not
carried at fair value through the profit or loss is impaired. 

A financial asset or portfolio of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events since initial recognition of the assets have adversely affected the amount or timing of future
cash flows from the assets. 

Financial assets held at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset or group of financial assets classified as held to maturity or loans 
and receivables has been incurred, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset or group of assets
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows from the asset or group of assets discounted at the effective interest
rate determined on initial recognition. For loans and receivables, the amount of impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement and the carrying amount of the financial assets or group of financial assets are
reduced by establishing an allowance for impairment losses.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss reduces and the reduction can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the
reversal is recognised in the income statement.

When an asset is uncollectable, it is written off against the related provision for impairment. Such assets are written off after all the necessary
procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are credited to the income statement.

Allowance for loan impairment represent management’s estimate of losses incurred at the balance sheet date. Impairments are calculated on
an individual basis using discounted expected future cash flows. Subjective judgements are made in this process. Changes in these estimates
could result in a change in allowances and have a direct impact on the impairment charge. 

For all reversals of impairments, it is noted that the decrease in the impairment loss related objectively to an event occurring after the initial
impairment was recognised, for example from an improvement in the debtor’s previous credit rating. None of the reversals of impairments
have caused the assets to have a carrying value higher than its amortised cost if the impairment had never been recognised.

In determining the recoverability of the asset, the Group considers any change in the credit quality from the date credit was initially granted 
up to the reporting date.
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Assets classified as available for sale

When a decline in the fair value of an available for sale financial asset has been recognised in equity and there is objective evidence of
impairment, the cumulative loss, being the difference between the asset’s acquisition cost and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that asset previously recognised in the income statement is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. 

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases, and the increase can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. The amount of
the reversal is recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses on available for sale equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. 

(f) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: 

• Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss; and

• Other financial liabilities. 

Management determines the classification of financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are comprised of financial liabilities that are held for trading, and those designated by
management as being at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired principally for the purposes of generating a profit from short-term
fluctuations in price or dealers margin, or form part of a portfolio of similar liabilities for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern 
of short-term profit-taking, or they are derivatives (not designated into a qualifying hedge relationship).

Financial liabilities may be designated at fair value through profit or loss only if such a designation (a) eliminates or significantly reduces 
a measurement or recognition inconsistency; (b) applies to a group of financial assets, financial liabilities, or both that the Group manages and
evaluates on a fair value basis; or (c) relates to an instrument that contains an embedded derivative which is not evidently closely related 
to the host contract.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, with transaction costs recognised in the income
statement. Subsequently, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised as they arise in the income statement.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method (see Note 1(a)). 

(g) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the assets has expired; or when the Group has transferred 
its contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial assets, and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership; or where control 
is not retained.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is when all obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.

(h) Determining fair value

All financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the
transaction price.

Subsequently, the fair value of financial instruments that are quoted in an active market are based on bid price (for assets) and offer price 
(for liabilities). Where there is no quoted market price in an active market, fair values are determined using valuation techniques which refer 
to observable market data. These include comparison with similar market instruments where market observable prices exist, discounted cash
flow analysis, option pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants. 

Where the fair value cannot be reliably determined for an investment in an equity instrument, the instrument is measured at cost. 

(i) Derivatives

Derivatives are classified as held for trading and accounted for in accordance with Note 1(d). 

Derivatives are classified as assets when their fair value is positive or as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Derivative assets and
liabilities arising from different transactions are only offset in accordance with Note 1(k) below.
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Embedded derivatives

Derivatives may be embedded in other financial instruments. Embedded derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when their economic
characteristics and risks are not clearly and closely related to those of the host contract; the terms of the embedded derivative are the same
as those of a stand-alone derivative; and the combined contract is not held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

(j) Sale and repurchase agreements

Investment and other securities may be lent or sold subject to a commitment to repurchase them (a ‘repo’). Such securities are retained on
the balance sheet when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership remain with the Group, and the counterparty liability is included
separately on the balance sheet as appropriate. Similarly, where the Group borrows or purchases securities subject to a commitment to resell
them (a ‘reverse repo’) but does not acquire the risks and rewards of ownership, the transactions are treated as collateralised loans, and the
securities are not included in the balance sheet. The difference between sale and repurchase price is accrued over the life of the agreements
using the effective interest method (see Note 1(a)).

(k) Offset of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet where there is a legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and the parties intend to settle the cash flows on a net basis, or realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously.

(l) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated at their depreciable amounts according to the straight line method over the estimated useful
life of each class of asset. Depreciable amount is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. 
The useful life for each class of asset is as follows:

Building 75 years
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 6 years
Computer and communication equipment 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining life of the lease

At each balance sheet date, property, plant and equipment, are assessed for indications of impairment. If indications are present, these 
assets are subject to an impairment review. The impairment review comprises a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset with its
recoverable amount: the higher of the asset’s net selling price and its value in use. Net selling price is calculated by reference to the amount
at which the asset could be disposed of in a binding sale agreement in an arm’s length transaction evidenced by an active market or recent
transactions for similar assets. Value in use is calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows obtainable as a result of the asset’s
continued use, including those resulting from its ultimate disposal, at a market-based discount rate on a pre-tax basis.

The carrying values of fixed assets are written down by the amount of any impairment and this loss is recognised in the income statement 
in the period in which it occurs. A previously recognised impairment loss relating to a fixed asset may be reversed in part or in full when 
a change in circumstances leads to a change in the estimates used to determine the fixed asset’s recoverable amount.

The carrying amount of the fixed asset will only be increased up to the amount that it would have been had the original impairment not been
recognised.

(m) Leases

Operating lease rentals payable are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless
another systematic basis is more appropriate.

(n) Employee benefits

For defined benefit schemes, actuarial valuations of each scheme’s obligations, using the projected unit credit method and the fair 
valuation of each scheme’s assets is performed annually, using the assumptions set out in Note 21. The difference between the fair value 
of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date, adjusted for any historical unrecognised 
actuarial gains or losses and past service cost, is recognised as a liability in the balance sheet. An asset, arising for example as a result 
of past over-funding or the performance of the plan investments, is recognised to the extent that it does not exceed the present value 
of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the scheme.

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses in excess of the greater of 10% of the assets or 10% of the obligations of the plan are recognised 
in the income statement over the remaining average working lives of the employees of the related plan, on a straight-line basis. Another
systematic method could be adopted if it results in the actuarial gains and losses being recognised faster and is applied consistently.

For defined contribution schemes, the Group recognises contributions due in respect of the accounting period in the income statement. 
Any contributions unpaid at the balance sheet date are included as a liability.
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Short-term employee benefits, such as salaries, paid absences, and other benefits, are accounted for on an accruals basis over the period
which employees have provided services in the year. Bonuses are recognised to the extent that the Group has a present obligation to 
its employees that can be measured reliably. All expenses related to employee benefits are recognised in the income statement in staff 
costs, which is included within operating expenses.

(o) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle a current legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

(p) Taxes

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in shareholders’ equity, in which case it is recognised in shareholders’ equity. 

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable on the taxable profit for the year, calculated using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous year. 

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet and the
amounts attributed to such assets and liabilities for tax purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and legislation enacted, or substantially enacted, by the balance sheet date and is expected to
apply when the deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred and current tax assets and liabilities are only offset when they arise in the same tax reporting group and where there is both the
legal right and the intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(q) Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using their functional currency, being the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the appropriate functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rate prevailing at the period end.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Euro at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Euro at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign
exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss except for differences arising on cash flow hedges. Non-monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into Euro at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates 
the values were determined. Translation differences arising on non-monetary items measured at fair value are recognised in profit or loss
except for differences arising on available-for-sale non-monetary financial assets, for example equity shares, which are included in the
available-for-sale reserve in equity unless the asset is the hedged item in a fair value hedge.

The assets and liabilities of non-Euro denominated operations are translated into Euro at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Euro at average exchange rates unless these do not approximate 
to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign
operations are recognised directly in equity.

(r) Capital instruments

The Group classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a financial asset, financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangement. An instrument is classified as a liability if it is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another
financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities on potentially unfavourable terms. An instrument is classified as equity 
if it evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after the deduction of liabilities. The components of a compound financial
instrument issued by the Group are classified and accounted for separately as financial assets, financial liabilities or equity as appropriate.

(s) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash and demand deposits with banks together with short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of change in value.

(t) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the accounting policies. The notes to the financial statements set out areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions are significant to the consolidated and individual financial
statements such as fair value of financial instruments, impairment allowances, and retirement benefit obligations.
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2. INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group €’000 €’000

Interest income

Cash and funds held with central banks 2,660 535
Loans and advances to banks and financial institutions 60,643 129,673
Loans and advances to customers 120,488 74,703
Available for sale financial assets 5,140 6,883
Held to maturity financial assets 18,053 3,102
Fair value through profit or loss:

- Held for trading 55,939 46,905
- Designated 4,684 1,168

Total interest income 267,607 262,969

Interest expense

Deposits with banks and financial institutions (125,540) (150,083)
Deposits with customers (70,188) (56,527)
Subordinated liabilities (7,003) (13,609)

Total interest expense (202,731) (220,219)

Net interest income 64,876 42,750

3. FEES, COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group €’000 €’000

Banking and credit related fees and income 17,281 11,078
Other commissions and fee income 4,997 4,505

Commission income 22,278 15,583

Commission expense (990) (745)

Fees arising from trust and other fiduciary activities that result in the holding of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts or other institutions
amounted to €43,389.

4. NET TRADING INCOME

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group €’000 €’000

Fair value movement on held for trading financial instruments (3,297) (5,707)
Foreign exchange instruments – held for trading 1,760 1,324

(1,537) (4,383)

Net interest income on held for trading financial instruments has been included in Interest income and expense (Note 2).
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5. NET GAINS AND LOSSES FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

€’000 €’000

Fair value movement of financial assets designated at fair value (6,945) 2,228

(6,945) 2,228

Net interest income on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss has been included in net interest 
income (Note 2).

6. NET GAINS AND LOSSES BY CLASSES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group €’000 €’000

Net gain/(loss) recognised in profit or loss including

interest income/(expense) on:

Loans and receivables at amortised cost 183,791 204,911
Available for sale financial assets 5,140 6,883
Held to maturity financial assets 18,053 3,102
Fair value through profit or loss
- Held for trading including derivatives - net 8,434 24,467
- Designated (2,261) 3,396
Reversal of gain from equity on disposal of available for sale investments - 79
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (156,763) (202,164)

56,394 40,674

7. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group €’000 €’000

Revenue from services 320 668
Services to Arab Bank Group 487 832
Other revenue 998 2,635

1,805 4,135
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8. OPERATING EXPENSES Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group €’000 €’000

Administrative expenses 17,883 18,861
Staff costs (See Note 9) 35,493 37,538
Auditors’ remuneration (see below) 760 778
Operating lease rentals 2,960 3,656
Other expenses 5,682 3,832

62,778 64,665

Auditors’ remuneration

Amounts paid and payable to the Group’s principal auditors, Deloitte LLP and its affiliated firms, were as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group €’000 €’000

Fees payable to Group’s auditors and their affiliates for audit of the 
Group’s annual financial statements 484 536
Fees payable to Group’s auditors and their affiliates for other services:

- Audit of Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 9 10

Total audit fees 493 546

Other services:
- Tax services 101 64
- Other services 166 168

Total non-audit fees 267 232

760 778

9. STAFF COSTS Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group €’000 €’000

Salaries and wages 29,754 28,789
Social security costs 3,704 5,640
Pension costs 2,035 3,109

35,493 37,538

The average number of persons employed by the Group, excluding temporary staff, in 2008 was 288 (2007: 278). Of these, 113 (2007: 130)
were employed in the strategic business units; 150 (2007: 125) were employed in the support units and 25 (2007: 23) were employed in
control and risk functions.

EAB_R&A08_back section:Layout 1  30/03/2009  11:53  Page 15



Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2008

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group €’000 €’000

Loans and advances to customers 22,882 3,000
Held to maturity securities 17,188 -
Less: reversals during the year (36) (1,009)

40,034 1,991

11. TAX EXPENSE Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Group €’000 €’000

Current taxation
UK corporation tax charge for the year - -
Foreign tax for current year 7 81

Taxation expense 7 81

The actual tax charge differs from the expected tax charge computed by applying the standard rate of UK corporation tax of 28% (2007: 30%)
as follows:

Loss before tax (26,248) (8,884)

Expected tax credit at 28.5% (2007: 30%) (7,481) (2,665)
Non-deductible items 741 3,866
Deductible items included in reserves (1,792) -
Foreign profits taxed at other rates 7 81
Group relief surrendered 399 -
Un-utilised losses carried forward / (utilised) 8,133 (1,201)

Actual tax charge 7 81

At the balance sheet date, the Company has unused tax losses €133.8m available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
not been recognised as there is insufficient evidence that the asset will be recovered. The asset will be recovered if future taxable profits
arise that could be offset against the deferred tax asset when it reverses.

12. CASH AND BALANCES AT CENTRAL BANKS

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Cash 2,013 1,735
Balances with central banks 212,438 21,049

214,451 22,784
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13. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Current accounts 23,173 24,985
Time deposits 1,373,136 986,372
Certificate of deposits 465,258 352,472

Loans and advances to banks before impairment 1,861,567 1,363,829
Impairment loss allowances - -

Loan and advances to banks after impairment 1,861,567 1,363,829

Amounts above include:
Due from parent company 494,338 506,734

Due from fellow subsidiaries 88,795 75,472

14. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Corporate loans 2,024,775 1,986,719
Other unsecured advances 52,936 62,825

Total loans and advances before impairment 2,077,711 2,049,544
Loan loss allowances (see Note 17) (26,259) (3,310)

Loan and advances to customers after impairment 2,051,452 2,046,234

15. FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Held for trading - quoted: 39,540 558,654

39,540 558,654

During the year (2007: €nil) the Group reclassified certain securities out of the above category to Held to maturity as disclosed in Note 16.

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss  - unquoted 55,071 51,069

55,071 51,069

Changes in fair value recognised during the year attributable to changes in:
Credit risk 6,048 -

Interest rates 1,559 -
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16. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Available-for-sale investment securities - quoted 57,093 131,321

57,093 131,321

Held to maturity investment securities - quoted
Gross carrying amount 606,259 74,000
Impairment loss allowances (Note 17) (18,371) -

587,888 74,000

The Group reclassified certain securities with a book value of €535m out of “Held for trading” (fair value through profit or loss) to “Held to
maturity”, effective 1 July 2008. The deterioration of the world’s financial markets that occurred during the year was considered to be a rare
circumstance, under the recently amended IAS39 and IFRS 7, which permitted reclassification of these securities. The Group was able to
apply fair values as at 1 July 2008 to determine the carrying value instead of the fair value prevailing at the date of reclassification.

Negative fair value movements of €0.5m (2007:€5.3m) were recognised in the income statement until the effective date of reclassification,
i.e. 1 July 2008. If the reclassifications had not occurred, the income statement would have included additional negative fair value movements
of €9m. Interest income of €15m, including accretion of €1m, has been recognised in the income statement against these securities since
reclassification.

The fair value of the reclassified securities is disclosed in note 29. The Group expects to recover the full par value of €541m against the
reclassified securities on maturity. The average effective interest rate of these securities when reclassified was 5.6%.

17. IMPAIRMENT LOSS ALLOWANCES

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

As at 1 January 3,310 1,785
Charged to income statement 40,034 1,991
Amounts written off (8) (32)
Translation adjustments 1,294 (434)

44,630 3,310

Gross carrying Impairment loss Net carrying 

amount allowance amount

Group and Company - 2008 €’000 €’000 €’000

Loans and advances to banks 1,861,567 - 1,861,567
Loans and advances to customers 2,077,711 (26,259) 2,051,452
Held to maturity assets 606,259 (18,371) 587,888
Available for sale assets 57,093 - 57,093

4,602,630 (44,630) 4,558,000

Group and Company - 2007

Loans and advances to banks 1,363,829 - 1,363,829
Loans and advances to customers 2,049,544 (3,310) 2,046,234
Held to maturity assets 74,000 - 74,000
Available for sale assets 131,321 - 131,321

3,618,694 (3,310) 3,615,384

The policy on impairment measurement is provided in the accounting policies Note 1(e).
Interest income accrued on impaired assets was €1m (2007: €nil).
Included in the impairment allowance are assets with a balance of €3m (2007: €3m) for the Group which have been placed under liquidation.
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18. DERIVATIVES

The Group enters into derivative contracts in the ordinary course of business and does so to create risk management solutions for customers,
enter into proprietary trading positions, and manage the Group’s own financial risks. All derivatives are held for trading and none have been
designated or accounted for as qualifying hedging instruments.

The Group’s objectives and policies on managing the risks that arise in connection with derivatives, including the policies for hedging, are
included in Note 1(i) and Note 30. 

The gross notional amounts represent the amounts of all outstanding contracts at year-end. It is the sum of the absolute amount of all
purchases and sales of derivative instruments. The notional amounts of the derivatives provide a basis for comparison with instruments
recognised on the balance sheet but does not indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments
and, therefore, do not indicate the Group’s exposure to credit or price risks.

The Group enters into the following main types of derivative contracts:

Swaps

These are over-the-counter (OTC) agreements between two parties to exchange periodic payments of interest, or payments for a related
index, over a set period based on notional principal amounts. The Group enters into interest rate swaps, exchanging fixed rates for floating
rates of interest based on notional amounts. 

Forward rate agreements

Forward rate agreements are OTC contracts under which two counterparties agree on the interest to be paid on a notional deposit of a
specified maturity at a specific future date. There is no exchange of notional or principal.

Currency forward contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts are OTC agreements to deliver, or take delivery of, a specified amount of an asset or financial instrument
based on a specified rate applied against the underlying asset or financial instrument, at a specified date. 

Derivatives are measured at their fair value, which is calculated as the present value of future expected net contracted cash flows at market
related rates, which are current at the balance sheet date.

The fair values and notional amounts of derivative instruments are set out in the following table:

2008 2007

Notional FV Asset FV Liability Notional FV Asset FV Liability

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Interest rate contracts:
Interest rate swaps 1,797,133 48,524 43,371 1,458,117 9,790 7,684
Forward rate agreements - - - 159,280 252 260

Exchange rate contracts:
Currency forward contracts 540,280 20,272 8,846 955,312 7,905 9,808

Total recognised derivative 
assets and liabilities 2,337,413 68,796 52,217 2,572,709 17,947 17,752
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture, Computer &  

fixtures communication Motor Leasehold

Land Buildings & fittings equipment vehicles improvements Total

Group €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Cost

As at 1 January 2007 290 39,596 978 940 100 2,817 44,721
Currency translation adjustments - (2,657) (6) (63) - (68) (2,794)
Additions - - 189 1,397 - 1,195 2,781

As at 31 December 2007 290 36,939 1,161 2,274 100 3,944 44,708

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses

As at 1 January 2007 - - (38) (185) (10) (206) (439)
Depreciation charge - - (350) (727) (18) (780) (1,875)

As at 31 December 2007 - - (388) (912) (28) (986) (2,314)

Net book value 290 36,939 773 1,362 72 2,958 42,394

Cost

As at 1 January 2008 290 36,939 1,161 2,274 100 3,944 44,708
Currency translation adjustments - (8,546) - - - 499 (8,047)
Additions - - 56 2,572 53 132 2,813
Disposals - - (168) (185) (100) - (453)

As at 31 December 2008 290 28,393 1,049 4,661 53 4,575 39,201

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses

As at 1 January 2008 - - (388) (912) (28) (986) (2,314)
Depreciation charge for the period - (1,113) (181) (911) (4) (714) (2,923)
Disposals - - 118 148 32 - 298

As at 31 December 2008 - (1,113) (451) (1,675) - (1,700) (4,939)

Net book value 290 27,280 598 2,986 53 2,875 34,082
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Furniture, Computer &  

fixtures communication Motor Leasehold

Land Buildings & fittings equipment vehicles improvements Total

Company €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Cost

As at 1 January 2007 290 1,621 978 940 100 2,817 6,746
Currency translation adjustments - - (6) (63) - (68) (137)
Additions - - 189 1,397 - 1,195 2,781

As at 31 December 2007 290 1,621 1,161 2,274 100 3,944 9,390

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses

As at 1 January 2007 - - (38) (184) (11) (206) (439)
Depreciation charge - - (350) (727) (17) (780) (1,874)

As at 31 December 2007 - - (388) (912) (28) (986) (2,313)

Net book value 290 1,621 773 1,362 73 2,958 7,077

Cost

As at 1 January 2008 290 1,621 1,161 2,274 100 3,944 9,390
Currency translation adjustments - - - - - 499 499
Additions - - 56 2,572 53 132 2,813
Disposals - - (168) (185) (100) - (453)

As at 31 December 2008 290 1,621 1,049 4,661 53 4,575 12,249

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses

As at 1 January 2008 - - (388) (912) (28) (986) (2,314)
Depreciation charge - (399) (181) (911) (4) (714) (2,209)
Disposals - - 118 148 32 - 298

As at 31 December 2008 - (399) (451) (1,675) - (1,700) (4,225)

Net book value 290 1,222 598 2,986 53 2,875 8,024

20. OTHER ASSETS

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Prepayments 5,409 3,032
Accrued interest receivable 28,710 29,326
Other assets and receivables 18,686 12,008

52,445 44,366

Amounts above include:
Due from holding company 3,424 673
Due from fellow subsidiaries 117 407
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21. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Europe Arab Bank plc Pension Scheme is an occupational pension scheme containing a defined benefit section. The defined benefit
section of the scheme is closed to new entrants. As a consequence the current service cost calculated under the projected unit method can
be expected to increase over time, as the average age of the membership increases. A full actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2007 is in
progress; this has been updated to 31 December 2008 by a qualified actuary, independent of the scheme’s sponsoring employer.

The contributions made by the employer over the financial year have been €735,000 (2007: €824,000), equivalent to 24.3% of pensionable
pay. As the defined benefit section is closed to new entrants, the current service cost as a percentage of pensionable payroll is likely to
increase as the membership ages, although it will be applied to a decreasing pensionable payroll.

2008 2007 2006

€’000 €’000 €’000

Defined benefit obligation (29,928) (41,414) (50,905)
Fair value of plan assets 30,786 44,107 45,928

Net surplus/(deficit) 858 2,693 (4,977)

Experience gain on plan liabilities 4,100 8,321 2,152
Experience (loss)/gain on plan assets (5,482) (503) 827

Total net actuarial (losses)/gains (1,382) 7,818 2,979

The Company expects to make a contribution of €630,000 (2007:€818,000) to the pension scheme during 2009.

(a) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans

2008 2007

€’000 €’000

Equities 12,852 21,616
Bonds 17,830 22,491
Property - -
Other 104 -

Fair value of plan assets 30,786 44,107

Present value of funded obligations (29,928) (41,414)
Present value of unfunded obligations - -

Net surplus/(deficit) 858 2,693

Unrecognised actuarial gains 2,443 1,376
Effect of limit on plan surpluses - -
Unrecognised past service cost - -

Net recognised asset 3,301 4,089

The benefit obligation arises from plans that are wholly unfunded and wholly or partly funded as follows:

Unfunded obligations - -
Wholly or partly funded obligations 29,928 41,414

Plan assets include €nil (2007: €nil) of equities and €nil (2007: €nil) of other assets issued by the Company or parent of the Company.
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21. RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations

2008 2007

€’000 €’000

Balance as at 1 January 41,414 50,905
Acquisitions  - -
Current service cost 937 1,399
Interest cost 2,315 2,456
Contributions by plan participants  
Actuarial (gains) (4,866) (8,321)
Benefits paid (710) (732)
(Gains)/losses on curtailments  - -
Liabilities extinguished on settlements  - -
Exchange differences (9,162) (4,293)

Balance as at 31 December 29,928 41,414

(c) Changes in the fair value of plan assets

2008 2007

€’000 €’000

Balance as at 1 January 44,107 45,928
Acquisitions - -
Expected return on plan assets 2,716 2,464
Employer contributions 735 824
Contributions by plan participants - -
Settlements - -
Actuarial gains/(losses) (6,507) (503)
Benefits paid (710) (732)
Exchange differences (9,555) (3,874)

Balance as at 31 December 30,786 44,107

The actual return on plan assets for the year ended 31 December 2008 was negative €3.8m (2007: positive €2m).

(d) Total expense recognised in the income statement in staff costs

2008 2007

€’000 €’000

Current service cost 937 1,399
Interest cost 2,315 2,456
Expected return on plan assets (2,716) (2,464)
Recognised actuarial losses  - 266
Past service costs recognised - -
Curtailments or settlements - -
Effect of limit on plan surpluses - -

Total amount included in staff costs 536 1,657

Staff costs are included in other operating expenditure on the face of the income statement.
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21. RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

(e) Principal assumptions

2008 2007

% %

Discount rate 6.50 6.10
Expected rates of return on plan assets 5.91 6.78 
Expected rate of salary increases 4.00 5.20 
Expected rate of inflation 3.10 3.20 

The expected return on assets is determined by calculating a total return estimate based on weighted average estimated returns for each
asset class. Asset class returns are estimated using current and projected economic and market factors such as inflation, credit spreads and
equity risk premiums.

22. DEPOSITS BY BANKS

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Due to other banks 2,432,512 2,212,959

2,432,512 2,212,959

Amounts above include:
Due to parent company 1,185,359 1,245,746
Due to fellow subsidiaries 420,755 223,626

23. CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Due to customers 1,891,791 1,431,117

1,891,791 1,431,117

24. OTHER LIABILITIES

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Accruals 10,678 14,739
Deferred income 2,876 3,036
Accrued interest payable 16,409 20,697
Other payables and liabilities 14,509 17,615

44,472 56,087

Amounts above include:
Due to parent company 5,585 5,862

Due to fellow subsidiaries 1,010 948

Defaults and breaches

There have been no defaults or breaches in terms or payments of loans payable during the year.
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25. SUBORDINATED LIABILITIES

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Subordinated loan  - 224,170
Floating rate notes 180,919 -

180,919 224,170

The subordinated loan at the end of last year was redeemed on 3 April 2008. On the same date, the Company issued USD 251,785,000
subordinated floating rate notes carrying interest rate of LIBOR plus 0.35% per annum paid on a quarterly basis. These notes are perpetual,
subordinated to all other creditors and are listed on the Channel Islands Stock Exchange. The Notes are fully subscribed by Arab Bank plc 
and count as upper tier 2 capital for the Company’s regulatory capital base. 

26. SHARE CAPITAL

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Authorised share capital

50,000 (2007 - 50,000) deferred shares of £1 each 72 72
500,000,000 (2007 - 500,000,000) ordinary shares of €1 each 500,000 500,000

Issued ordinary share capital

50,000 (2007 - 50,000) deferred shares of £1 each 72 72
499,925,540 (2007 - 449,925,540) ordinary shares of €1 each 449,926 449,926

As at 31 December 449,998 449,998

During the year 50,000,000 (2007: 205,224,000) €1 ordinary shares were issued at par, for cash consideration. These were fully subscribed 
by Arab Bank plc.
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27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into transactions which expose it to tax, legal and business risks. Provisions are made 
for known liabilities which are expected to materialise. Possible obligations and known liabilities where no reliable estimate can be made 
or it is considered improbable that an outflow would result are noted as a contingent liability.

2008 2007

€’000 €’000

Letters of credit 248,553 235,366
Guarantees given to third parties 1,928,083 1,872,671
Unused credit facilities and other contingencies 1,347,963 667,291

3,524,599 2,775,328

Assets pledged

In accordance with the security arrangement of liabilities described, some assets are pledged as collateral to secure liabilities under
repurchase agreements and as security deposits relating to futures, options and exchange memberships. The holders of these securities 
do not have the right to sell or re-pledge the asset except where specifically disclosed. The aggregate amount of secured liabilities is €nil
(2007:€nil).

Operating lease commitments

Where the Group is the lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable building operating leases are as follows:

2008 2007

€’000 €’000

Less than one year 1,884 1,884
Between one and two years 1,338 1,884
Between two and three years 1,338 1,338
Between three and four years 1,280 1,338
Between four and five years 561 1,280
More than five years 561  1,123

Total commitments payable 6,962 8,847

The Group leases various offices, branches and other premises under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements. The leases have various
terms, escalation and renewal rights. There are no contingent rents payable. The Group also leases equipment under non-cancellable lease
arrangements.
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28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE, INCLUDING DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS

The immediate and ultimate controlling party of the Company is Arab Bank plc, a company incorporated in Jordan. Details of transactions
between the Company and related parties are disclosed below.

(a) Trading transactions

During the year, the Company entered into the following trading transactions with related parties:
Guarantees,

Interest, fees & Interest, fees & Amounts owed by Amounts owed to acceptances &

other income received other expense paid related parties related parties letters of credit

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Parent company 18,367 32,677 35,958 81,093 497,762 506,734 1,371,863 1,245,430 99,040 20,725
Fellow subsidiaries 1,973 2,729 7,710 12,949 88,912 75,472 421,765 223,519  - 246
Associates  - 705  - 1,391 12,328 9,650 18,865 6,034 3,508 3,468

20,340 36,111 43,668 95,433 599,002 591,856 1,812,493 1,474,983 102,548 24,439

The above transactions were unsecured and settled in cash. In addition, the transactions were typically made in the ordinary course 
of business and substantially on the same terms as for comparable transactions with third party counterparties. No expense has been
recognised in the year for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows: 2008 2007

€’000 €’000

Key management compensation

Short-term employee benefits 5,802 4,493
Post employment benefits 500 396
Termination benefits 2,208 19

8,510 4,908

The information above includes directors’ remuneration for 2008 as follows: 

Directors emoluments

Non-executive directors - emoluments 175 158

Chairman and executive directors - emoluments 512 1,289
- retirement benefits 735 109

1,247 1,398

The emoluments of the highest paid director including pension and social security contributions amounted to €662,878 (2007: €849,776).

(c) Transactions with key management personnel and each of their connected persons

Directors, other key management personnel and their connected persons have undertaken the following transactions with the Company in the
normal course of banking business.

2008 2007

No. of persons €’000 No. of persons €’000

Loans 9 29 - -
Deposits 4 1,170 3 1,999

The transactions with key management personnel and their connected persons were transacted in the normal course of business with terms
prevailing for comparable transactions and on the same terms and conditions applicable to other employees of the Company. 
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29. CATEGORIES, CLASSES AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The financial instruments and other assets and liabilities held by the business segments of the Group are detailed below: 

Corporate Private

Banking Treasury Banking Others Total

Group - 2008 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Cash and balances at central banks  - 212,268 2,183 -  214,451
Loans and advances to banks at amortised cost - 1,861,567 - - 1,861,567
Loans and receivables at amortised cost 2,002,614 -  48,838 -  2,051,452
Fair value through profit or loss
- Held for trading  - 39,540   - - 39,540
- Designated 55,071 - - - 55,071

Investment securities
- Available for sale at fair value 57,093 - - - 57,093
- Held to maturity at amortised cost 51,738 536,150   - - 587,888

Derivatives at fair value  - 68,796 - - 68,796
Other assets 16,087 12,143 480 61,118 89,828

2,182,603 2,730,464 51,501 61,118 5,025,686

Deposits by banks at amortised cost 555,435 1,849,525 27,552  - 2,432,512
Customer accounts at amortised cost 653,574  - 1,238,217  - 1,891,791
Derivatives at fair value  - 52,217   - - 52,217
Subordinated liabilities at amortised cost    - - - 180,919 180,919
Other liabilities 8,791 2,835 4,783 28,063 44,472

1,217,800 1,904,577 1,270,552 208,982 4,601,911
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29. CATEGORIES, CLASSES AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Corporate Private

Banking Treasury Banking Others Total

Group - 2007 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Financial assets 

Cash and balances at central banks 9,660 11,389  - 1,735 22,784
Loans and advances to banks at amortised cost 116,274 1,247,555 - - 1,363,829
Loans and receivables at amortised cost 1,981,519 1,890 62,825 - 2,046,234
Fair value through profit or loss

- Held for trading - 558,654 - - 558,654
- Designated 51,069 - - - 51,069

Investment securities 
- Available for sale at fair value - 131,321 - - 131,321
- Held to maturity at amortised cost - 74,000 - - 74,000

Derivatives at fair value - 17,947 - - 17,947
Other assets 17,614 19,737 321 53,157 90,829

2,176,136 2,062,493 63,146 54,892 4,356,667

Deposits by banks at amortised cost 174,528 2,035,916 2,515 - 2,212,959
Customer accounts at amortised cost 186,666 4,233 1,232,851 7,367 1,431,117
Derivatives at fair value - 17,752 - - 17,752
Subordinated liabilities at amortised cost - - - 224,170 224,170
Other liabilities 5,279 18,889 6,264 25,984 56,416

366,473 2,076,790 1,241,630 257,521 3,942,414

The Group did not hold any compound instruments with embedded derivatives at the year end (2007: €nil).

For financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost, the directors do not anticipate the fair values to be materially different from the
book values considering the underlying nature of the portfolios except following:

2008 2008 2007 2007

Fair value Book value Fair value Book value

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Investment securities - held to maturity at initial recognition 35,013 51,738 71,561 74,000
Investment securities - reclassified into held to maturity 525,932 536,150  - -

Total 560,945 587,888 71,561 74,000

30. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The Group’s risk appetite is the Board of Directors’ tolerance for earnings volatility and losses and provides a description of the types of risk
that the Group is prepared to take as a result of its various business operations. 

The Group’s risks are managed taking into account the following principles:

• Identification and measurement of all key risks and managing them to take account of an acceptable balance between risks versus reward.

• Management responsibility for the management of risk and controls.

• Ensuring adequate resources are available to ensure that information for risk management is available, accurate and timely.

• Undertaking an annual review of risk policies and the control framework design to manage the risks in the business strategy.

The Group maintains high standards of internal controls, with clear accountabilities for risk management, applying a governance model which
enables oversight and management of risks. The Group enters into derivative contracts including interest rate swaps and foreign exchange
contracts in the ordinary course of business and does so to create risk management solutions for customers and manage the Group's own
financial risks.
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30. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES (continued)

The Board has established a Committee of the Board known as the Audit & Risk Committee, to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities. The function of the Audit & Risk Committee is to encourage and safeguard the highest standards of integrity, financial
reporting, risk management and internal control on behalf of the Board.

The Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is a senior executive who works closely with the Chief Executive Officer, and liaises with the Board through the
Audit & Risk Committee. The CRO is responsible for ensuring that effective best practice risk mitigation is in place in the Group. The CRO is
tasked with taking an holistic and comprehensive view of risks that might impact on the Bank, embedding effective Enterprisewide Risk
Management (ERM) into the overall strategy and operations, and continually strengthening the Bank’s approach to risk management.

The information in note 31 to note 34 describes the main banking risks, committees with responsibility and the policies of the Group to
manage them. The directors are confident that the current risk management structure is sufficient for identification, monitoring and prevention
of significant financial risks to the Group at present.

31. CREDIT RISK

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has
adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of
mitigating the risk of financial loss from default. The Group transacts with counterparties which are mainly in the A to BBB equivalent range of
credit ratings.

Credit risk is managed by the Credit Risk Department and the Credit Committee whose decision making process is governed by the Credit
Policy Manual. The approved limits are documented by a Risk Control Unit (RCU) which is independent of the business and reports to the
Head of Credit.

The Credit Committee is responsible for approving credit recommendations and making other credit decisions as per the delegated lending
authorities within the Credit Policy Manual. This includes decisions on individual credits, reviewing and recommending credits, large exposures
and/or concentration limits to the Board of Directors for their approval. The Credit Committee is also responsible for monitoring the credit
approval delegated to the Credit Department by the Board of Directors.

The policy refers to all direct (loans or overdrafts) or indirect, (third party credit risk guaranteed by the borrower) or contingent (letters of credit)
credit exposures.

The Group’s lending priorities are a function of the credit skills and experience of its lending officers. For reasons of safety and soundness and
to maintain the quality of the portfolio, the Group will concentrate in those areas in which it has a competitive advantage, knowledge of the
particular market and a good understanding of the commercial and political risks involved within those markets.

The credit policy documents include details on lending authorities, large exposures, concentration risk, credit to insiders, transactions with
parent and affiliates, country risk exposure, problem country details, industry lending, use of external credit assessments, credit risk collateral
and provisioning.

The Board of Directors approves all policies of the Group and their approval is required for any recommended amendments.
The main measure of credit risk takes place at the customer level. The Group also measures exposure to each industry sector and country of
risk. Management of limits is performed daily through exceptions reports. The corporate loan portfolio is stress tested under various scenarios
on a monthly basis.

Except as detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the balance sheet, net of any allowances for
losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral obtained.

2008 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000

Other credit exposures

Guarantees given to third parties 1,899,002 1,866,425
Acceptances 29,081 10,867
Un-drawn loans including forward contingent trades 1,347,963 656,424
Irrevocable letters of credit 248,553 235,366

The Group did not hold any credit derivatives during the year (2007: €nil) to reduce the exposure to credit risk on any of the instruments.

The collateral held by the Group against financial assets loaned to customers varies with the nature and type of customer and facilities
provided. The Group does not have the right to sell or re-pledge the collateral received as security in the absence of default by the owner 
of the collateral. 
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31. CREDIT RISK (continued)

Quality of assets Balances with Fair value

central banks through

and loans  Loans and profit or loss

and advances advances and investment

31 December 2008 to banks to customers securities Derivatives Total

Group and Company €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Neither past due or impaired 2,074,005 2,009,156 735,592 68,796 4,887,549
Past due and impaired - 68,555 22,371  - 90,926
Gross 2,074,005 2,077,711 757,963 68,796 4,978,475
Less: allowance for impairment - (26,259) (18,371)  - (44,630)

Net 2,074,005 2,051,452 739,592 68,796 4,933,845

31 December 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Neither past due or impaired 1,384,878 2,043,443 815,044 17,947 4,261,312
Past due and impaired - 6,101 - - 6,101
Gross 1,384,878 2,049,544 815,044 17,947 4,267,413
Less: allowance for impairment - (3,310) - - (3,310)

Net 1,384,878 2,046,234 815,044 17,947 4,264,103

During the year, there was no possession of collaterals or other credit enhancements which were held as security.
Among the assets that are past due or impaired, the fair value of collateral held as security is €24m (2007:€1m).

The table below presents financial assets excluding cash split by external ratings*, where available, for 2008.

Balances with Fair value

central banks through

and loans  Loans and profit or loss

and advances advances and investment

to banks to customers securities Derivatives Total

Group and Company €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Rated entities

AAA to AA- 794,932 63,492 604,767 31,810 1,495,001
A+ to A- 858,974 1,339 59,484 4,755 924,552
BBB+ to B- 134 37,919 20,370 32,231 90,654
Unrated 419,965 1,948,702 54,971  - 2,423,638

2,074,005 2,051,452 739,592 68,796 4,933,845

The table below presents financial assets excluding cash split by external ratings*, where available, for 2007.

Group and Company €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Rated entities

AAA to AA- 303,588 42,206 612,763 17,947 976,504
A+ to A- 692,192 22,036 134,184  - 848,412
BBB+ to B- 13,640 60,717 17,028  - 91,385
Unrated 375,458 1,921,275 51,069  - 2,347,802

1,384,878 2,046,234 815,044 17,947 4,264,103

*Ratings as per S&P/Moody Index.

EAB_R&A08_back section:Layout 1  30/03/2009  11:53  Page 31



Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2008

31. CREDIT RISK (continued)

Quality of assets (continued)

The table below analyses the loans and advances to customers using the Bank’s internal credit rating system.
2008 2007

€’000 €’000

1 - 3 - investment grade 483,907 624,140
4 - 6 - standard monitoring 1,324,498 1,417,908
7  - special monitoring 164,422 39
8 - 10 - non performing 78,625 4,147

Total 2,051,452 2,046,234

Internal ratings are highly correlated to the external ratings but also take into account other behavioural aspects of the counterparty and
historical performance. The Group started monitoring the credit portfolio based on internal rating from 2007.

From the above assets, the carrying amount of €nil (2007: €nil) assets at year end have been re-negotiated with the customers.

Concentration of risk

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic region,
or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be affected by changes in economic,
political or other conditions. In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines
to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly.

The following table shows the geographical exposure to financial assets, excluding cash as at 31 December 2008.

Balances with Fair value

central banks through

and loans  Loans and profit or loss

and advances advances and investment

to banks to customers securities Derivatives Total

Group and Company €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

UK 465,638 613,880 190,098 30,993 1,300,609
Europe 823,653 667,975 478,627 10,509 1,980,764
Arab Countries 394,898 529,318 2,156 27,291 953,663
North America 215,038 228,767 52,846 3 496,654
Asia 137,450 11,512   - - 148,962
Other 37,328  - 15,865  - 53,193

2,074,005 2,051,452 739,592 68,796 4,933,845

The following table shows the geographical exposure to financial assets, excluding cash as at 31 December 2007:

Group and Company €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

UK 466,795 541,828 89,905 10,390 1,108,918
Europe 358,184 873,723 650,437 1,517 1,883,861
Arab Countries 343,961 384,572 9,218 5,429 743,180
North America 83,445 52,394  - 51 135,890
Asia 132,398 935  - 1 133,334
Other 95 192,782 65,484 559 258,920

1,384,878 2,046,234 815,044 17,947 4,264,103
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31. CREDIT RISK (continued)

Concentration of risk (continued)

The following table shows the industrial exposure to financial assets excluding cash as at 31 December 2008:

Balances with Fair value

central banks through

and loans  Loans and profit or loss

and advances advances and investment

31 December 2008 to banks to customers securities Derivatives Total

Group and Company €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Central and local government 212,438 101,773   - - 314,211
Financial institutions 1,861,567 224,264 626,870 68,796 2,781,497
Individual  - 52,936   - - 52,936
Industrial and commercial  - 1,672,479 112,722  - 1,785,201

2,074,005 2,051,452 739,592 68,796 4,933,845

The following table shows the industrial exposure to financial assets excluding cash as at 31 December 2007:

31 December 2007

Group and Company €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Central and local government - 284,832   - - 284,832
Financial institutions 1,384,878 192,790 750,123 17,947 2,345,738
Individual  - 62,825   - - 62,825
Industrial and commercial  - 1,505,787 64,921  - 1,570,708

1,384,878 2,046,234 815,044 17,947 4,264,103

32. MARKET RISK 

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Risks are
managed individually through the use of limits and restricting product exposures. The Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”) sets and
monitors the market risk limits and meets once a month but receives daily risk reports. The Committee is convened whenever the business
encounters heightened market risk conditions.

As the business has evolved, greater sophistication has been introduced in the management and measurement of market risk using more
stress scenarios and a greater level of reporting. The Group is also in the process of testing a VaR model for interdependencies within risks.
This will enhance the current risk measurement processes.

(a) Interest Rate Risk Management

The Company and the Group are exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow / lend funds at both fixed and floating 
interest rates. EAB plc identifies the following types of interest rate risk:

Re-pricing Risk

This risk results from differences between the timing of interest rate fixings for assets and liabilities.

Yield Curve Risk

This risk arises from changes in the shape and slope of the yield curve.

Basis Risk

This risk arises from the use of different indices for the pricing of interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities.

Reinvestment Risk

This is the risk that interest rate sensitive assets are re-invested at lower yields during an environment of falling interest rates. 

The interest rate risks that have been identified can have an impact on both the earnings and economic value of the Group and as 
a consequence the board of directors seeks to manage these risks to ensure the achievement of its business objectives.
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32. MARKET RISK (continued)

(a) Interest Rate Risk Management (continued)
ALCO manages interest rate risk by the establishment of a Market Risk Policy that reflects the overall risk appetite. The overall risk appetite is
approved by the board of directors and reviewed at least annually.

The ALCO manages interest rate risk through the use of:

Interest Rate Risk Limits
A maximum Basis Point Value amount.

Interest Rate Stop Loss Limits
This is a maximum loss per book for each interest rate sensitive asset which is set for a day, month and year.

Interest Rate Option Trading Limits
Maximum option premium limits.

A suite of stress tests that models changes to yield curves both in absolute terms and in terms of changes to the shapes of the curves.

The day-to-day management of interest rate risk lies with the Treasury team. The monitoring and reporting of interest rate risk on a daily basis
is performed by an independent Treasury Valuation Control function that reports to the Chief Financial Officer.

The following tables provide a summary of the interest rate re-pricing profile of the Group and the Company’s assets and liabilities. Assets and
liabilities have been allocated to time bands by reference to the earlier of the next interest rate reset date and the contractual maturity date.
Financial assets and liabilities with a floating rate are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk, and this risk is reflected predominantly in the
time bands below twelve months. Financial assets and liabilities with a fixed rate are exposed to fair value interest rate risk, which is reflected
predominantly in the time bands beyond twelve months. Financial assets and liabilities not directly exposed to interest rate risk will appear in
the non-interest bearing time band. The table does not take account of derivative financial instruments whose effect is to alter the interest
basis of the Group/Company’s assets and liabilities.

Within 1mth 3mths 6mths 1 to 3 After 3 Not tied
1mth to 3mths to 6mths to 12mths years years to maturity Total

Group - 31 December 2008 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Assets
Cash and balances at central banks - - - - - - 214,451 214,451
Loans and advances to banks 1,191,591 416,612 177,319 60,501 - - 15,544 1,861,567
Loans and advances to customers 814,890 628,159 352,145 10,000 770 134,260 111,228 2,051,452
Fair value through profit or loss
- Held for trading 14,894 24,646 - - - - - 39,540
- Designated - 55,071 - - - - - 55,071

Investment securities
- Available for sale 32,800 24,293 - - - - - 57,093
- Held to maturity 159,865 428,023 - - - - - 587,888

Derivatives - - - - - - 68,796 68,796
Other assets - - - - - - 89,828 89,828

Total assets 2,214,040 1,576,804 529,464 70,501 770 134,260 499,847 5,025,686

Liabilities and equity
Deposits by banks 1,397,839 643,243 156,878 61,510 - - 173,042 2,432,512
Customer accounts 1,222,015 385,367 86,334 16,583 9,759 12,550 159,183 1,891,791
Derivatives - - - - - - 52,217 52,217
Subordinated liabilities 180,919 - - - - - - 180,919
Other liabilities - - - - - - 44,472 44,472
Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 423,775 423,775

Total liabilities and equity 2,800,773 1,028,610 243,212 78,093 9,759 12,550 852,689 5,025,686

Interest rate sensitivity gap (586,733) 548,194 286,252 (7,592) (8,989) 121,710 (352,842) -



66 |  67  Europe Arab Bank plc Annual Report 2008

Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2008

32. MARKET RISK (continued)

(a) Interest Rate Risk Management (continued)

Within 1mth 3mths 6mths 1 to 3 After 3 Not tied

1mth to 3mths to 6mths to 12mths years years to maturity Total

Group - 31 December 2007 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks - - - - - - 22,784 22,784
Loans and advances to banks 908,761 254,529 65,403 110,150 - - 24,986 1,363,829
Loans and advances to customers 993,389 544,638 355,894 27,782 12,065 74,383 38,083 2,046,234
Fair value through profit or loss

- Held for trading 154,855 403,799 - - - - - 558,654
- Designated 51,069 - - - - - - 51,069

Investment securities
- Available for sale 4,916 126,405 - - - - - 131,321
- Held to maturity - 74,000 - - - - - 74,000

Derivatives - - - - - - 17,947 17,947
Other assets - - - - - - 90,829 90,829

Total assets 2,112,990 1,403,371 421,297 137,932 12,065 74,383 194,629 4,356,667

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 1,645,015 161,775 205,028 69,354 - - 131,787 2,212,959
Customer accounts 818,730 302,037 55,987 6,204 23,670 - 224,489 1,431,117
Derivatives - - - - - - 17,752 17,752
Subordinated liabilities - 224,170 - - - - - 224,170
Other liabilities - - - - - - 56,416 56,416
Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 414,253 414,253

Total liabilities and equity 2,463,745 687,982 261,015 75,558 23,670 - 844,697 4,356,667

Interest rate sensitivity gap (350,755) 715,389 160,282 62,374 (11,605) 74,383 (650,068) -
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32. MARKET RISK (continued)

(a) Interest Rate Risk Management (continued)

Within 1mth 3mths 6mths 1 to 3 After 3 Not tied

1mth to 3mths to 6mths to 12mths years years to maturity Total

Company - 31 December 2008 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks - - - - - - 214,451 214,451
Loans and advances to banks 1,191,591 416,612 177,319 60,501 - 15,544 1,861,567
Loans and advances to customers 814,890 628,159 352,145 10,000 770 134,260 111,228 2,051,452
Fair value through profit or loss

- Held for trading 14,894 24,646 - - - - - 39,540
- Designated - 55,071 - - - - - 55,071

Investment securities
- Available for sale 32,800 24,293 - - - - - 57,093
- Held to maturity 159,865 428,023 - - - - - 587,888

Derivatives - - - - - - 68,796 68,796
Other assets - - - - - - 89,563 89,563

Total assets 2,214,040 1,576,804 529,464 70,501 770 134,260 499,582 5,025,421

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 1,397,839 643,243 156,878 61,510 - - 173,042 2,432,512
Customer accounts 1,222,015 385,367 86,334 16,583 9,759 12,550 159,183 1,891,791
Derivatives - - - - - - 52,217 52,217
Subordinated liabilities 180,919 - - - - - - 180,919
Other liabilities - - - - - - 44,370 44,370
Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 423,612 423,612

Total liabilities and equity 2,800,773 1,028,610 243,212 78,093 9,759 12,550 852,424 5,025,421

Interest rate sensitivity gap (586,733) 548,194 286,252 (7,592) (8,989) 121,710 (352,842) -
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32. MARKET RISK (continued)

(a) Interest Rate Risk Management (continued)

Within 1mth 3mths 6mths 1 to 3 After 3 Not tied

1mth to 3mths to 6mths to 12mths years years to maturity Total

Company - 31 December 2007 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks - - - - - - 22,784 22,784
Loans and advances to banks 908,761 254,529 65,403 110,150 - - 24,986 1,363,829
Loans and advances to customers 993,389 544,638 355,894 27,782 12,065 74,383 38,083 2,046,234
Fair value through profit or loss

- Held for trading 154,855 403,799 - - - - - 558,654
- Designated 51,069 - - - - - - 51,069

Investment securities
- Available for sale 4,916 126,405 - - - - - 131,321
- Held to maturity - 74,000 - - - - - 74,000

Derivatives - - - - - - 17,947 17,947
Other assets - - - - - - 90,596 90,596

Total assets 2,112,990 1,403,371 421,297 137,932 12,065 74,383 194,396 4,356,434

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 1,645,015 161,775 205,028 69,354 - - 131,787 2,212,959
Customer accounts 818,730 302,037 55,987 6,204 23,670 - 224,489 1,431,117
Derivatives - - - - - - 17,752 17,752
Subordinated liabilities - 224,170 - - - - - 224,170
Other liabilities - - - - - - 56,416 56,416
Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 414,020 414,020

Total liabilities and equity 2,463,745 687,982 261,015 75,558 23,670 - 844,464 4,356,434

Interest rate sensitivity gap (350,755) 715,389 160,282 62,374 (11,605) 74,383 (650,068) -
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32. MARKET RISK (continued)

(b) Foreign Currency Risk Management
The Group is a European/G7 focused financial institution and thus much of its activity falls into one of three currencies: EUR, GBP and USD.
However, EAB has business interests in a number of different political and geographic segments and thus additional foreign currencies’
transactions are held in the books of account.

The Group identifies the following types of foreign exchange rate risk:

Transaction Risk
This is the risk that arises when the foreign exchange rate used to convert a transaction (income and expenditure) into the Group’s functional
currency (EUR) at the date the transaction is booked is different from the foreign exchange rate at the settlement date.

Economic Risk
This is the risk to future cash-flows from adverse foreign exchange rate movements.

The foreign exchange rate risks identified can have an impact on both the earnings and economic value of EAB plc and as a consequence 
the board of directors seeks to manage these risks to ensure the achievement of its business objectives.

ALCO manages foreign exchange rate risk by the establishment of a Market Risk Policy that reflects the overall risk appetite and which 
is approved by the board of directors and reviewed at least annually.

The ALCO manages foreign exchange risk through the use of: 

Foreign exchange trading limits
Maximum daylight and overnight limits are set for both spot and forward foreign exchange trades.

Foreign exchange option trading limits
Maximum option premium limits. 

Foreign exchange stop loss limits
Maximum limits are set per book for the time horizons of day, month and year.

A suite of stress tests that models changes to foreign exchange rates.

Management information systems are in place to measure foreign exchange risk, which is measured as the estimate of the exposures/
liabilities accepted in non-Euro currencies which are not offset by a corresponding position or derivative transaction. The day-to-day
management of foreign exchange risk lies with the Treasury team. The monitoring and reporting of foreign exchange risk on a daily basis is
performed by an independent Treasury Valuation Control function that reports to the Chief Financial Officer. Senior management receive
market risk reports, including foreign exchange, and are notified immediately of any breaches of the foreign exchange limits.

Utilisation of foreign exchange limits is measured as the sum of the absolute Euro equivalent values of all non-Euro currency positions.
Throughout the period the utilization has not exceeded the limit.
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32. MARKET RISK (continued)

(b) Foreign Currency Risk Management (continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date is as follows:

2008 2008 2007 2007

CCY ’000 €’000 CCY ’000 €’000

AED 5 1 21 4
AUD 5 2 (8) (5)
BHD 1 1 9 16
CAD - - (11) (8)
CHF (12) (8) (6) (4)
DKK 15 2 6 1
DZD 497 5 138 1
EGP 9 1 9 11
EUR (64) (64) (65) (65)
GBP (17) (18) 26 35
INR 299 4 - -
JOD 32 32 33 32
JPY 56 - (955) (6)
KWD 4 10 1 3
MAD 1 0 (38) (3)
NOK 6 1 157 20
NZD 3 1 (30) (16)
OMR 4 7 4 7
QAR 61 12 107 20
SAR 38 7 188 34
SEK - - 266 28
TND 18 10 15 8
USD (49) (35) (133) (90)
YER 15 - 15 5

Total utilisation of limit (absolute value excluding EUR balance) - 224 - 342

(c) Equity Price Risk Management

The Company is not significantly exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Equity investments are held for strategic rather
than trading purposes. The Group does not actively trade these investments.
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32. MARKET RISK (continued)

(d) Sensitivity Analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to various risk variables. The analysis has been performed using the following 
assumptions:

• Reasonable changes in interest rates, foreign currency rates and equity prices are considered based on internal reporting to key
management personnel and different economic environments.

• The Group has measured the EUR equivalent of movements in interest rates for GBP, EUR and USD. 

• The Group does not have a material exposure to changes in other foreign currency rates and foreign interest rates and as such 
sensitivity has not been performed for other currencies. 

• A positive number indicates an increase in profit and a negative number indicates increase in loss.

All scenarios should be considered in isolation as they represent different risks and were calculated holding all other 
variables constant. 

2008 2007

Impact on Profit/(Loss) Impact on Profit/(Loss)

€’000 €’000

Interest rate sensitivity

200bps increase in interest rate (3,128) (3,825)
200bps decrease in interest rate 3,246 3,918
200bps increase in interest rate in steps of 50bps (3,355) (4,115)
200bps decrease in interest rate in steps of 50bps 3,474 4,208
100bps increase in interest rate (1,578) (1,924)
100bps decrease in interest rate 1,608 1,947
25bps stepped increase to 100bps over 2 months (1,692) (2,069)
25bps stepped decrease to 100bps over 2 months 1,721 2,092

The impact on the Group’s equity of above was not considered material.

Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity

The impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on the Group’s foreign currency assets and liabilities at the reporting date and throughout the
period was not considered material. 

Equity Price Sensitivity

The impact of changes in equity prices on the Company’s equity investments was not considered material. 
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33. LIQUIDITY RISK

The ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, with ALCO having responsibility to build an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements on a day-to-day basis. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and
reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets
and liabilities.

The Group follows a conservative approach to liquidity risk, using stricter internal ratios than required by the Financial Services Authority (FSA)
and ensuring a liquidity portfolio is retained for prudential reasons.

The Group has identified the following types of liquidity risk:

Mismatch Liquidity Risk

The liquidity risk in the Group’s current balance sheet structure due to maturity transformation in the cash-flows of individual positions.

Market Liquidity Risk

The inability to sell assets at or near their fair value.

Contingency Liquidity Risk

The risk that future events may require a significantly larger amount of cash than the Group projects it will need. 
In other words, it is the risk of the Group not having sufficient funds to meet sudden and unexpected short-term obligations.

Total Liquidity Risk

The liquidity risks that have been identified can have an impact on the ability of the Group to meet all of its financial obligations when they
come due or will only permit these financial obligations to be met at an excessive cost.

The Treasury team is responsible for intra-day and end of day liquidity. Liquidity risk is measured at an overall Group level through daily
reporting produced by the Regulatory Reporting team. The secondary mechanism is cash flow value date reporting, used by the treasury desk
and produced from the trading system, Panorama. The FSA and Internal Limits are applied to the daily liquidity analysis, with the internal limits
being more conservative. There is also a global treasury reporting process for the parent, Arab Bank plc; and monthly liquidity reporting is
submitted to the FSA. A portfolio of marketable securities rated A- and above is held as a liquidity buffer for disposal if short term funds are
urgently required.

The ALCO sets and reviews policy for liquidity management and establishing a process to monitor report and review the liquidity position,
ensuring it is within the limits set.
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33. LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

The following tables analyse assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period to contractual maturity. 
The maturity profiles disclosed below does not include the impact of behavioral adjustments which have been agreed with the FSA. This has
a material impact on the maturity profile and forms a key part of our liquidity management and stress testing. In addition and as noted above,
the Group also maintains a portfolio of marketable trading securities that can be liquidated in the event of unforeseen interruption of cash
flow. The Group benefits from the support of its parent company, Arab Bank plc.

Within 1mth 3mths 6mths 1 to 3 After 3 Not tied

1mth to 3mths to 6mths to 12mths years years to maturity Total

Group - 2008 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks 1,586 1,909 2,895 1,412 12,482 79,744 114,423 214,451
Loans and advances to banks 234,382 962,766 497,540 130,214 9,173 27,492 - 1,861,567
Loans and advances to customers 258,956 40,873 111,185 51,213 335,508 1,173,089 80,628 2,051,452
Fair value through profit or loss

- Held for trading - - - - 39,540 - - 39,540
- Designated - - - - - 55,071 - 55,071

Investment securities
- Available for sale - - - 44,338 - 12,755 - 57,093
- Held to maturity 20,986 4,793 56,868 - 280,897 224,344 - 587,888

Derivatives 26,630 643 28 635 24,689 16,171 - 68,796
Other assets - - - - - - 89,828 89,828

Total assets 542,540 1,010,984 668,516 227,812 702,289 1,588,666 284,879 5,025,686

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 1,363,800 680,468 184,937 68,737 3,677 - 130,893 2,432,512
Customer accounts 742,905 857,841 113,846 10,411 8,400 - 158,388 1,891,791
Derivatives 3,581 3,085 414 2,516 23,610 19,011 - 52,217
Subordinated liabilities - - - - - - 180,919 180,919
Other liabilities - - - - - - 44,472 44,472
Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 423,775 423,775

Total liabilities and equity 2,110,286 1,541,394 299,197 81,664 35,687 19,011 938,447 5,025,686

EAB_R&A08_back section:Layout 1  30/03/2009  11:53  Page 42



74 |  75  Europe Arab Bank plc Annual Report 2008

Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2008

33. LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

Within 1mth 3mths 6mths 1 to 3 After 3 Not tied

1mth to 3mths to 6mths to 12mths years years to maturity Total

Group - 2007 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks - - - - - - 22,784 22,784
Loans and advances to banks 714,918 447,324 66,450 110,150 - - 24,987 1,363,829
Loans and advances to customers 121,095 57,329 59,527 84,784 252,708 1,421,413 49,378 2,046,234
Fair value through profit or loss

- Held for trading 15,897 - 10,000 8,996 382,331 141,430 - 558,654
- Designated 51,069 - - - - - - 51,069

Investment securities
- Available for sale 4,916 14,984 6,788 40,292 48,970 15,371 - 131,321
- Held to maturity - 13,586 - - - 60,414 - 74,000

Derivatives - 17,947 - - - - - 17,947
Other assets - - - - - - 90,829 90,829

Total assets 907,895 551,170 142,765 244,222 684,009 1,638,628 187,978 4,356,667

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 1,257,343 543,224 193,560 87,047 - - 131,785 2,212,959
Customer accounts 658,725 438,977 70,153 27,376 11,399 - 224,487 1,431,117
Derivatives - 17,752 - - - - - 17,752
Subordinated liabilities - - - - - 224,170 - 224,170
Other liabilities - - - - - - 56,416 56,416
Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 414,253 414,253

Total liabilities and equity 1,916,068 999,953 263,713 114,423 11,399 224,170 826,941 4,356,667
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33. LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

Within Within 3mths 6mths 1 to 3 After 3 Not tied

1mth 3mths to 6mths to 12mths years years to maturity Total

Company - 2008 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks 1,586 1,909 2,895 1,412 12,482 79,744 114,423 214,451
Loans and advances to banks 234,382 962,766 497,540 130,214 9,173 27,492 - 1,861,567
Loans and advances to customers 258,956 40,873 111,185 51,213 335,508 1,173,089 80,628 2,051,452
Fair value through profit or loss

- Held for trading - - - - 39,540 - - 39,540
- Designated - - - - - 55,071 - 55,071

Investment securities
- Available for sale - - - 44,338 - 12,755 - 57,093
- Held to maturity 20,986 4,793 56,868 - 280,897 224,344 - 587,888

Derivatives 26,630 643 28 635 24,689 16,171 - 68,796
Other assets - - - - - - 89,563 89,563

Total assets 542,540 1,010,984 668,516 227,812 702,289 1,588,666 284,614 5,025,421

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 1,363,800 680,468 184,937 68,737 3,677 - 130,893 2,432,512
Customer accounts 742,905 857,841 113,846 10,411 8,400 - 158,388 1,891,791
Derivatives 3,581 3,085 414 2,516 23,610 19,011 - 52,217
Subordinated liabilities - - - - - - 180,919 180,919
Other liabilities - - - - - - 44,370 44,370
Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 423,612 423,612

Total liabilities and equity 2,110,286 1,541,394 299,197 81,664 35,687 19,011 938,182 5,025,421
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33. LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

Within Within 3mths 6mths 1 to 3 After 3 Not tied

1mth 3mths to 6mths to 12mths years years to maturity Total

Company - 2007 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks - - - - - - 22,784 22,784
Loans and advances to banks 714,918 447,324 66,450 110,150 - - 24,987 1,363,829
Loans and advances to customers 121,095 57,329 59,527 84,784 252,708 1,421,413 49,378 2,046,234
Fair value through profit or loss

- Held for trading 15,987 - 10,000 8,996 382,331 141,430 - 558,654
- Designated 51,069 - - - - - - 51,069

Investment securities
- Available for sale 4,916 14,984 6,788 40,292 48,970 15,371 - 131,321
- Held to maturity - 13,586 - - - 60,414 - 74,000

Derivatives - 17,947 - - - - - 17,947
Other assets - - - - - - 90,596 90,596

Total assets 907,895 551,170 142,765 244,222 684,009 1,638,628 187,745 4,356,434

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 1,257,343 543,224 193,560 87,047 - - 131,785 2,212,959
Customer accounts 658,725 438,977 70,153 27,376 11,399 - 224,487 1,431,117
Derivatives - 17,752 - - - - - 17,752
Subordinated liabilities - - - - - 224,170 - 224,170
Other liabilities - - - - - - 56,416 56,416
Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 414,020 414,020

Total liabilities and equity 1,916,068 999,953 263,713 114,423 11,399 224,170 826,708 4,356,434

Liquidity Risk - Financial Liabilities

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables below have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial liabilities including interest that will accrue to those liabilities
except where the Group is entitled and intends to repay the liability before its maturity.

Within 1mth 3mths 6mths 1 to 3 After 3 Not tied

1mth to 3mths to 6mths to 12mths years years to maturity Total

Gross Contractual Cash flows €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

2008

Deposits by bank 1,366,931 682,779 185,893 69,178 3,805  - 130,893 2,439,479
Customer deposits 745,299 859,741 114,230 10,549 8,656  - 158,388 1,896,863
Subordinated liabilities - - - - - - 180,919 180,919

Total non-derivative 

financial liabilities 2,112,230 1,542,520 300,124 79,727 12,461  - 470,200 4,517,261

2007

Deposits by bank 1,266,370 548,958 195,858 88,135   - - 131,785 2,231,106
Customer deposits 662,382 441,897 70,890 27,772 12,083  - 224,487 1,439,511
Subordinated liabilities - - - - - - 224,170 224,170

Total non-derivative 

financial liabilities 1,928,752 990,855 266,748 115,907 12,083 - 580,442 3,894,787
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33. LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its derivative financial instruments. When the amount payable or receivable 
is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing
at the reporting date.

The table below clarifies the contractual maturity date of derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a net basis.

Gross Contractual Cash Flows Within 3mths 3 to 12mths 1 to 3 years After 3 years

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

2008

Interest rate swaps 515,035 28,618 945,348 308,132

2007

Interest rate swaps 500,000 48,011 207,609 702,497

The table below clarifies the contractual maturity date of derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis (i.e. forward
currency contracts).

Gross Contractual Cash Flows Within 3mths 3 to 12mths 1 to 3 years After 3 years

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

2008

Outflow 449,540 61,590 17,720 -
Inflow 463,120 59,409 17,751 -

2007

Outflow 831,801 108,935  - 16,250
Inflow 830,135 108,900  - 16,277

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND RISK

The Group maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to ensure that the Group complies with externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group maintains healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of its activities. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous year.

The adequacy of Group’s capital is monitored using, amongst others, the rules and ratios established by the UK Financial Services Authority.
During the past year, the Group had complied in full with all its externally imposed capital requirements.

Europe Arab Bank has a capital base of €605m (2007: €638m), comprising net equity of €424m (2007: €414m) and perpetual subordinated
liabilities of €181m (2007: €224m). The subordinated liabilities count as upper tier two capital for the regulatory capital base.
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35. GROUP AND COMPANY EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Financial assets of €66m (2007: nil) were subject to default events as a result of events arising subsequent to the balance sheet date. 
The Group is currently carrying out a detailed credit assessment. The Directors believe that the value of these assets as included in the
balance sheet do not require any adjustment based on the information currently available.

There have been no other reportable events after the balance sheet date.
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